University of South Carolina Scholar Commons

Theses and Dissertations

Summer 2021

# Go with The Flow: Testing the Effects of Emotional Flow on Psychophysiological, Attitudinal, and Behavioral Changes

Chris R. Noland

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd

Part of the Mass Communication Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Noland, C. R.(2021). *Go with The Flow: Testing the Effects of Emotional Flow on Psychophysiological, Attitudinal, and Behavioral Changes.* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from https://scholarcommons.sc.edu/etd/6489

This Open Access Dissertation is brought to you by Scholar Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholar Commons. For more information, please contact digres@mailbox.sc.edu.

Go with The Flow: Testing the Effects of Emotional Flow on Psychophysiological, Attitudinal, and Behavioral Changes

by

Chris R. Noland

Bachelor of Arts Louisiana Tech University, 2001

Master of Arts College of Charleston, 2014

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in

Mass Communications

School of Journalism and Mass Communications

University of South Carolina

2021

Accepted by:

Taylor Wen, Major Professor

Linwan Wu, Committee Member

Robert McKeever, Committee Member

Elise Ince, Committee Member

Tracy L. Weldon, Interim Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

© Copyright by Chris R. Noland, 2021 All Rights Reserved

## Dedication

This project is dedicated to Kristen Noland who has provided patience,

encouragement, and a shoulder to lean on when I needed it the most. It must be sore.

#### Acknowledgements

This dissertation would not have been possible without the help and support of many mentors, colleagues, and friends. Drs. Taylor Wen and Linwan Wu are those most responsible for my success in completing both this degree and dissertation. Through their tutelage, I was introduced to the world of advertising research and a level of mentorship that I will forever be grateful for. And, dare I say, friendship. Thank you to Dr. Robert McKeever for making statistics a little less intimidating and for teaching me how much easier it is to use a laptop with a mouse. I am very grateful that Dr. Elise Ince did not kick me right out of her office in the marketing department when I randomly walked in to inquire about her participating on my committee. Others were not so kind.

Dr. Queenie Li and Dr. Joon Kim both taught me a great deal about research and how to be a better academic writer. I look forward to collaborations with them in the future. This dissertation would quite literally not exist without Dr. Dan Haun who is responsible for cutting and recutting the videos used as my stimuli. He is a very patient man.

Finally thank you to O.D., Jeffrey, Pebbles, and Mary Frances. When the going got tough, I could always count on you to make me laugh. Maybe one day one of you will actually learn how to sit.

iv

#### Abstract

Emotions are important constructs that affect the lives of everyone. Emotions play a particularly strong role in persuasion. This study examines the concept of emotional flow, a sequencing of specific discrete emotions in a strategic manner to affect attitudes and behaviors. In an experiment to understand the functions and applicability of emotional flow, an experiment was conducted using a public service announcement about melanoma that contained a sequence that flowed from humor to sadness to hope. This dissertation used both self-report as well as biometric measures of the emotional responses valence and arousal. Using Affect Priming Theory, Mood Management Theory, and Excitation Transfer Theory as guides, results showed that participants who viewed the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow had higher levels of arousal compared to those who viewed humor-sadness or humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows. The humorsadness-hope emotional flow resulted in higher levels of pleasure compared to those who viewed the humor-sadness emotional flow. Arousal was identified as a mediator between emotional flow and both message engagement and risk perceptions. Additionally, sadness was found to moderate the relationship between emotional flow and both attitude and message engagement.

## Table of Contents

Dedication
Acknowledgementsiv
Abstractv
List of Tables
Chapter 1 Introduction
1.1 Background1
1.2 Significance of Study2
1.3 Study Overview
Chapter 2 Literature Review7
2.1 Persuasion7
2.2 Emotion
2.3 Dimensional Emotions10
2.4 Discrete Emotions11
2.5 Mixed Emotions15
2.6 Emotional Flow17
2.7 Arousal
2.8 Expressed Valence24
2.9 Dependent Variables
Chapter 3 Methodology
3.1 Study Design

3.2 Study Participants
3.3 Stimuli Development
3.4 Pretest
3.5 Experimental Procedure
3.6 Dependent Measures
Chapter 4 Results
4.1 Manipulation Check
4.2 Hypothesis Testing
4.3 Summary of Findings43
Chapter 5 Discussion
5.1 Theoretical Implications47
5.2 Practical Implications55
5.3 Limitations
5.4 Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Study Questionnaire

## List of Tables

Table 4.1 Means (SDs) and Pearson Correlations Between Physiological and Self- Reported Arousal Responses to Emotional Flow Videos	.44
Table 4.2 Means (SDs) and Pearson Correlations Between Physiological and Self-   Reported Valence Responses to Emotional Flow Videos	.45
Table 5.1 Linear Model of Emotional Flow Predictors of Attitude Toward the Video	.57
Table 5.2 Linear Model of Emotional Flow Predictors of Message Engagement	.58

#### CHAPTER 1

#### INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 BACKGROUND

Emotions are an important mechanism that affects innumerable aspects of people's lives. Izard (1977) argued that the entirety of human behavior is motivated by emotions. Subsequently, there is no shortage of emotions-based research on an array of different topics. The role that emotions play in persuasion is utilitarian in its applicability to many different facets of life from consumer behavior to health habits. Nabi (2002) outlines extensive evidence that emotions play a strong role in influencing decision-making processes as well as attitudes and behaviors.

Some research paths focus on discrete emotions such as fear and guilt and their effects on attitudes and behaviors. A great deal of research has used fear appeals to test the effect of threats on different behaviors. For example, Shen (2011) found that fear appeal messages can lead to stronger psychological reactance. Leshner et al. (2009) found that anti-tobacco advertising containing content that induced fear or disgust had positive effects on recognition and memory. Guilt is another emotion that has received singular attention. Chang (2014) illustrated that guilt-inducing advertising aimed at promoting monetary donations had a larger effect on donation intentions when the ad highlighted benefits for the donor as opposed to the recipient. An emerging area in emotions research is mixed emotions. These are multiple emotions found in messages, often with opposing valences. For example, Mukherjee and Dube' (2012) studied the mitigating effects that

humor has on defensive responses in fear appeals and thus increases the persuasiveness of fear advertising. In their review of mixed emotions, Larsen and McGraw (2014) discuss different cases of people feeling different emotions simultaneously such as feeling both happy and sad after watching a particularly compelling film. Horror films were found to elicit fear and happiness because the fear made people happy (Andrade & Cohen, 2007). A scene from the movie *Pink Flamingos* shows a character eating dog feces which elicits disgust however it was also found that the disgust was accompanied by feelings of amusement (Hewig et al., 2005; Hemenover & Schimmack, 2007). Although these studies are examining multiple emotions, from a broader viewpoint, the construct of mixed emotions is still an emerging field in mass communications and requires further attention.

#### **1.2. SIGNIFICANCE OF STUDY**

Existing studies that focus on mixed emotions measure these emotions in the aggregate, as an index of the felt emotions and their effect on attitudes and behavior. However, there is an overall lack of research that compares varied sequences of individual emotions within a single message. As a way to address this and focus more on the details of individual emotions within a single message, Nabi (2015) proposed the concept of emotional flow, a sequencing of specific discrete emotions in a strategic manner so that the flow of emotions affects certain behaviors.

This dissertation empirically tests emotional flow to understand how sequences of emotions organized into specific flows within a single message can affect emotional responses such as arousal and valence levels, as well as attitudes and behaviors. If different emotional flows affect these emotional responses in different ways, marketers

and advertisers can more strategically incorporate emotions into their messaging strategies. Likewise, if various emotional flows have an effect on attitudes and behaviors, content creators can tactically use emotions to affect specific attitudes and behaviors such as information seeking and message engagement. Additionally, this study integrates an exclusive biometric technology that measures emotions simultaneously as they are experienced during message exposure.

Studies that measure mixed emotions typically do so using self-reporting measures. Zoellner and Foa (2016) argue that self-reports can be considered valid measures of key constructs that cannot be measured other ways. While this study does use self-reporting to measure emotions, it further measures emotions by incorporating biometric measurement, using software to record the emotions simultaneously as they are experienced while viewing the message. Biometric technology can obtain measurements that can offer marketers and advertisers a tool that measures consumer response to advertising (Bellman et al. 2017). For example, because consumers sometimes show skepticism towards advertising and other types of messaging, marketers can face a strong challenge in being noticed. Research shows that low attention to messages result in poor metrics such as sales (Bellman et al., 2017). Biometric measures of attention provide a mechanism that can help marketers and advertisers create more effective message campaigns and discard those that are less successful (Bellman et al., 2019).

This dissertation focuses specifically on the emotional response measurements of arousal and valence. These measures can be useful in identifying what parts of a message are particularly effective (Bellman et al., 2017). In this case, identifying which emotional flow is causing the most arousal response and how different emotional flows affect

valence response can help researchers as well as marketers and advertisers implement different emotional flows within their messaging to influence persuasion. The most common biometric measure of psychophysiological arousal response is skin conductance, a measure of sweating, typically monitored via sensors placed on the fingers and is associated with sympathetic nervous system activation (Bailey, 2017). As the sympathetic nervous system is activated, the skin momentarily becomes a better conductor of electricity. In addition to skin conductance, facial expressions, such as zygomatic and corrugator muscle activity (smiling and frowning) as well as others are able to capture the valence of emotions (Lang et al., 1993). Facial expressions reflect affective states and can possibly predict associated behavior and attitude change (Friesen & Ekman, 1983). The connection between affective states and facial expressions has been robustly demonstrated in studies applying Ekman's (1972) neurocultural theory of emotion, which argues that facial expressions provide a universal schema for the appearance of basic emotions. For example, Ekman and Cordaro (2011) argue the universality of discrete emotions such as anger, fear, surprise, sadness, disgust, contempt, and happiness. This dissertation draws from the conceptual and methodological approaches delineated by this framework, as prior research based on this paradigm has found facial expressions of emotion as discrete, innate, and culturally independent (Ekman, 1972; Ekman & Cordano, 2011).

Along with biometric measurements, this dissertation also measures valence and arousal responses via self-report. Mehrabian and Russell (1977) developed a robust, three-dimensional self-reporting scale that has become one of the most widely accepted models for measuring emotional response. The scale measures three dimensions:

pleasure, arousal, and dominance (PAD). The pleasure dimension can range from very positive to very negative, arousal ranges from sluggishness to excitation, and empowerment ranges from weak to powerful (Morris, 2019). The scale is operationalized using AdSAM, the Advertisement Self-Assessment Manikin, which utilizes a series of graphic characters to measure each dimension (Morris et al., 1994). The scale provides a non-verbal, cross-cultural, visual measure of emotional responses along the pleasure, arousal, and dominance dimensions (Morris et al., 2009). AdSAM was formulated for advertising research but has shown great utility in the use of public service announcements and health campaigns (Kim et al., 2008). Results from AdSAM show that emotional response can be a strong predictor of behavior and a valuable tool for strategic planning and message design (Morris et al., 2002). However, since the focus of this dissertation is on two specific biometric measures (valence and arousal), emotional response is conceptualized as a two-dimensional construct and therefore only focuses on the pleasure and arousal dimensions of the PAD scale.

#### **1.3. STUDY OVERVIEW**

This dissertation contributes to the emotional literature in several ways. Although studies on emotional flow do exist (e.g., Nabi et al., 2018), there is a shortage of empirical, experimental research as the concept itself is new and researchers are still trying to understand how discrete emotions can act together in specific sequences, or flows, to affect physiological measures, attitudes and behaviors.

Because emotional flow looks at the evolution of the emotional experience during exposure to a message (Nabi, 2015), this dissertation takes an experimental approach to understanding the effects of emotional flows using varying flows of discrete emotions.

Specifically, the experiment examines how humor-sadness-hope, humor-sadness, and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows differ in terms of emotional response (valence and arousal), attitudes, and behaviors. These specific emotions are used because of their different valences as well as different action tendencies, or adaptive responses (Lerner et al., 2015). For example, humor is positively valenced and promotes attention to the message, sadness is negatively valenced and promotes deeper thinking and elaboration on problems, while hope is positively valenced and promotes positive health behaviors.

From a theoretical perspective this dissertation seeks to show that discrete emotions can be sequenced into specific flows in which the emotions build upon each other to increase emotional responses of arousal and positive valence. Subsequently, since each discrete emotion carries specific action tendencies, this study will try to demonstrate that increased arousal and valence responses may affect certain behaviors (e.g., information seeking behavior) via these action tendencies.

Practically, advertisers and marketers may be able to create messaging with specific emotional flows that use emotions to increase both arousal and valence responses in consumers, advocates, and the general public. Organizations can also include emotions within these flows that, based on their action tendencies, can possibly affect specific attitudes and behaviors in different contexts including attitudes toward the message, information seeking behavior about a product or issue, or pursuing an advocated behavior.

#### CHAPTER 2

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 PERSUASION

Persuasion is an omnipresent function that is becoming even more so as society becomes more interconnected via technology like social media and targeted advertising. Politicians attempt to persuade voters, charities hope to persuade people to donate, advertisers try and persuade consumers to alter their behaviors whether it's purchasing their product, liking their brand, or sharing their ad, and public health officials work to persuade people to change their behaviors. O'Keefe (2016) characterizes persuasion as a mechanism that influences an audience's mental state. Even if a persuader's ultimate goal is a behavioral effect such as buying a product or changing a health behavior, the effect involves influencing what the audience thinks (O'Keefe, 2016).

Advertising messages that focus on different persuasion goals require different kinds of theory as well as different research methodologies in order to understand them (Sasser & Koslow, 2019). O'Keefe (2016) identifies three areas of theory that socialscientific work on persuasion informs: theories of attitude and psychological processes, theories of voluntary action, and theories of persuasion and social influence proper. Each is distinct yet all share the common thread of adapting persuasive messages toward audiences. This dissertation focuses on theories of persuasion and social influence. Specifically, the focus is on health advertising which promotes behaviors that can reduce illness or deaths (Thorson & Rodgers, 2019). For example, a public service

announcement (PSA) may focus on melanoma where the goal of the persuasion is to encourage viewers to reduce their exposure to sunlight and lower their chances of getting skin cancer.

Many persuasion theories in the past have concentrated on some aspect of information processing, while others have focused on cognitive response. This suggests that thoughts generated during message processing can determine attitude change (Eagly & Chaiken, 1993). Emotions can influence information processing and are, in part, made up of cognitive appraisals, suggesting that the experience of emotion is associated with individuals' appraisal of their environment (Smith & Ellsworth, 1985). For example, fear is associated with cognitive appraisals of uncertainty, unpleasantness, and low levels of individual control. This leads an individual to perceive negative events as unpredictable and under situational control rather than their own, ultimately resulting in high perceptions of risk (Lerner et al., 2015).

Emotion has been intertwined with persuasion since the days of Aristotle. Classical orators argued that manipulations of emotions like anger, despair, and compassion could effectively sway opinions (Destano et al., 2004). "A person who gained mastery both in the evocation of emotion and in the emotional framing of argumentation was believed to be among the most successful practitioners of persuasion (Cicero, *De Oratore*, trans. 2001; Kennedy, 1994). However, the timeline for empirical research is shorter. Many studies have focused on the roles that affective states have played in persuasion (e.g., Eagly & Chaiken, 1993; McGuire, 1969, 1985; Petty et al., 2001; Petty &Wegener, 1998).

#### 2.2 EMOTION

Before discussing how emotions can affect persuasion, it is necessary to develop a proper definition. The term affect is often used as an umbrella for several mental processes including emotions, moods, and feelings. In order to understand the construct of emotions, it's important to contrast them with moods. Moods are low intensity, protracted affective states (Cohen, Pham, & Andrade, 2008). These valenced constructs allow people to feel good or bad yet unable to identify the target of their mood (Cohen, Pham, & Andrade, 2008). Positive moods consist of physiological activation and feelings of pleasantness while negative moods are made up of a physiological activation and feelings of unpleasantness (Watson & Tellegen, 1985).

Emotions are a distinct construct from moods. They are internal mental states that are valenced evaluations of a situation or object. They are typically viewed as short-lived, intense, and directed at external stimuli (Nabi, 2015). They are made up of five components: a cognitive appraisal or evaluation of a situation or event, a physiological component (arousal), a motor expression, a motivational component (behavioral intention or sense of readiness), and a subjective feeling state (Scherer, 1984).

Although this presents a general definition of emotions, they can be further classified into schools of thought. Most extant research focuses on one of two models of emotion: dimensional or discrete. It can be argued that dimensional emotions are a more simplified view while discrete emotions are more nuanced, however they are both important lenses through which emotions can be studied. What follows is a discussion of each category of emotion.

#### **2.3 DIMENSIONAL EMOTIONS**

The dimensional model is a more generalized way of looking at emotions that categorizes them into two dimensions of emotional response: valence (positive and negative) and arousal (high and low; Nabi, 2010). Valence and arousal can be defined as subjective experiences (Russell, 1989). Valence is the extent to which an individual involves pleasantness or unpleasantness into their conscious affective experience and arousal is the extent an individual incorporates subjective experiences of arousal into their conscious affective experience (Barrett, 1998).

Research using this model looks at the degree to which different valences, different levels of arousal, or a combination of the two affect reactions to stimuli (Nabi, 2010). For example, valence and arousal response studies have been used to study the anxiety-depression relationship. Feldman (1995) showed that the valence and arousal focus are related to the correlation between ratings of anxious and depressed moods. In this case, subjects reported anxious moods (arousal) whenever they experienced depressed moods (valence), and vice versa (Feldman, 1995). Morris et al., (2002) found that using dimensional emotions was a more successful mechanism for predicting conative attitudes such as brand interest and purchase intention compared to cognitive measures. Research in the context of social marketing and advertising communication used a dimensional emotional approach to show that college students had positive emotional responses toward social marketing and advertising communications that their peers shared compared to those that were promoted directly by marketers (Morris, Choi, & Ju, 2016).

Although providing valuable insights, taking such a broad view of emotion by viewing it through only positive and negative dimensions can cause researchers to miss potential influences of specific emotions (Destano et al., 2004). It represents what some might consider a gross oversimplification of emotional experiences and distinctions between negative emotions such as sadness and anger, and positive emotions like joy and hope can be lost (Destano et al, 2004).

#### 2.4 DISCRETE EMOTIONS

Destano et al. (2004) felt that using only a dimensional approach diminished the ability to distinguish between negative emotions, such as anger and sadness, and positive emotions, like hope and joy. One can take the view that a primary purpose of emotions is to generate adaptive responses to specific situational evaluations through different mental processing, motivations and physiologies (Damasio, 1994; Frijda, 1986; Herrald & Tomaka, 2002, Keltner & Gross, 1999; LeDoux & Phelps, 2000; Schwarz & Clore, 1996). With this view, it makes sense that specific emotions might exert a distinct influence on these events that is not acquired when examined via a less complex positive-negative dichotomy. In other words, different emotions should exert different influences on cognitive and motivational processes (cf. Frijda, 1986; Keltner & Gross, 1999).

These specific emotions are referred to as discrete emotions. Discrete emotions are a more complex model of emotions. They are essentially categorical states of emotions (Nabi, 2010). They are based on cognitive appraisals of situations (Winterich et al., 2010). A cognitive appraisal is a method of cognitive meaning making that elicits an emotion across a series of six dimensions: control, attentional activity, pleasantness,

anticipated effort, certainty, and self/other responsibility (agency, Smith & Ellsworth, 1985).

As Desteno et al. (2004) discussed, there are a variety of reasons that researchers might choose to focus on discrete emotions as opposed to just a dimensional approach. Complex phenomena require complex theorizing. Human action and thought are complicated constructs, and the dimensional model might not be sophisticated enough to completely explain the communication process. Discrete emotions are more robust. In fact, as a part of their process, they already measure valence and arousal responses (Nabi, 2010). However, they also add more nuance that allows us to understand human behavior more fully (Nabi, 2010). Researchers are able to observe different behaviors across those dimensions mentioned above which helps them to understand and predict the onsets and outcomes of different emotional experiences, a characteristic not necessarily shared by a dimensional only approach (Nabi 2010).

Advertising research has often focused on discrete emotions and their influence on ad related outcomes. For instance, fear and guilt are discrete emotions that are often studied within advertising contexts. In fear research, an advertisement triggers a fear response and then often depicts a way to assuage that fear (i.e. a gain frame). For example, Rossiter and Thornton (2004) found that anti-speeding TV commercials that contained a fear appeal coupled with relief (e.g. a driver forced to stop suddenly before hitting a child who had chased a ball into the road) was more effective in reducing speeding compared to an ad that only contains fear without relief (e.g. a female driver at the scene of a car accident that she caused which resulted in the death of her best friend).

One such way that researchers have predicted outcomes of emotional experiences is by drawing on appraisal theories of emotion (Winterich et al., 2010). One appraisal theory of emotion that is particularly pertinent to this dissertation is the appraisaltendency framework (ATF; Lerner & Keltner 2001; Lerner & Tiedens, 2006), which posits that emotions elicit implicit cognitive predispositions that cause individuals to appraise future events that are in line with the cognitive appraisals that characterize specific emotions. The ATF relies on two theoretical assumptions. First, it assumes that emotions are characterized by cognitive appraisals (Winterich et al., 2010). This is in line with other appraisal theories of emotion which say that emotions and the cognitive appraisal of a situation are correlated such that each particular emotion is defined by a specific pattern of cognitive appraisal (Ellsworth & Scherer, 2003; Lazarus, 1991; Roseman, 1984; Smith & Ellsworth, 1985; Weinter Graham, & Chandler, 1982). For example, if an individual appraises a negative event, such as a tree falling on someone's house, to be caused by other individuals (e.g., careless tree company employee) the individual will experience anger. However, if that individual appraises that negative event to be controlled by the situation (a severe storm), the individual will experience sadness. Lerner and Keltner (2000) draw mostly on the dimensions outlined by Smith and Ellsworth (1985) to make predictions about the influences of certain emotions on judgement. In the case of anger, the emotion arises from appraisals of other-responsibility for negative events, individual control, and a sense of certainty about what transpired (Averill, 1983; Betancourt & Blair, 1992; Smith & Ellworth, 1985; Weinter et al., 1982).

The second theoretical assumption is that cognitive appraisals not only elicit specific emotions, but also shape assessments of later, unrelated situations which

subsequently guide behaviors (Neumann, 2000: Roseman & Evdokas, 2004). According to the ATF, emotions can elicit implicit cognitive predispositions to appraise future events that correspond to the central appraisals characterizing that particular experienced emotion (Winterich, et al., 2010). These are referred to as "appraisal tendencies," which influence judgement of subsequent events even when they are unrelated to the emotion evoking event (Keltner et al., 1993; Lerner & Keltner, 2001; Lerner et al., 2004; Tiedens & Linton, 2001). Lerner and Keltner (2000) developed the concept of appraisal tendencies based on the idea that specific emotions are defined by a set of central dimensions and that specific emotion directs cognition to address specific problems. In the case of anger, the cognitive appraisals of certainty and human control lead to an appraisal tendency to perceive negative events as predictable, under human control, and brought about by others. The resulting effect is that an angry person perceives lower levels of risk and therefore might make riskier judgments after an anger inducing event (Lerner & Keltner, 2000; Winterich, et al., 2010). Winterich et al. (2010) highlight the distinction between cognitive appraisals which occur first and refer to thoughts stimulated by specific events that result in specific emotions and appraisal tendencies which occur only after an emotion occurs.

Other discrete emotions have not been studied as much as anger. As mentioned, Destano et al. (2004) believes a discrete emotion approach can help show the subtle differences between positive emotions such as joy and hope. These two emotions, along with a commonly experienced negative emotion such as sadness, have action tendencies that work well together. Joy can be considered synonymous with humor.

This dissertation will focus on three discrete emotions: humor, sadness, and hope. Humor is the positive emotion of amusement, the appraisal that something is funny, and the tendency to laugh (Gervais & Wilson, 2005: Martin, 2007; McGraw & Warren, 2010). Sadness is the feeling of loss, physical or psychological pain, and failure (Izard, 1977; Lazarus, 1991; Plutchik, 1980; Tomkins, 1963). Hope is the desire for relief from a negative situation or a desire for a positive outcome (Lazarus, 1991).

#### 2.5 MIXED EMOTIONS

Now that there has been a discussion about discrete emotions and the way their cognitive appraisals and accompanying appraisal tendencies influence behavior, it is important to discuss the concept of mixed emotions as a way to determine if emotional flow is an effective way to influence behaviors. Larsen and McGraw (2014) broadly define mixed emotions as the co-occurrence of positive and negative affect.

Oceja and Carrera (2009) outline four patterns of mixed emotions using their Analogical Emotional Scale. The sequential pattern occurs when one emotion appears first and is then replaced by a second emotion. The prevalence pattern involves two emotions occurring at the same time, but one emotion is of a higher intensity compared to the other. The inverse pattern happens when two emotions evolve in a way that as one emotion increases, a second decreases. High simultaneous patterns come about when both emotions are moderate or high in intensity and run a simultaneous course (Oceja & Carrera, 2009). Other research has looked at mixed emotions in the context of these patterns. This dissertation focuses on the sequential pattern as each discrete emotion is subsequently replaced by another discrete emotion.

Cacioppo and Berntson (1994) developed the evaluative space model which says that positive emotions elicit appetitive or approach motivational behaviors and negative emotions elicit aversive or avoidance motivational behaviors. Not only this, but they are separable and can exist independently (Cacioppo & Berntson, 1994). The core of this argument relies on two independent motivation systems (Cacioppo & Gardner, 1999): the appetitive (approach) system and the aversive (avoidance) system (Lang et al., 1997). The appetitive system responds automatically to positive stimuli and is a driving force behind approach behavior in the environment (Keene & Lang, 2016). The aversive system responds automatically to potential threats in the environment through quick, automatic defensive behaviors, as well as motivating complex behaviors such as fight and flight (Keene & Lang, 2016). Additionally, the aversive system can motivate unpleasant emotional reactions like moral or physical disgust (Clayton et al., 2017; Lang & Yegiyan, 2011). Importantly, messages that elicit activation in both motivational systems (coactivation) lead to higher attention, better memory, and low arousal response (Lang et al., 2013; Keene & Lang, 2016). Eckler and Bolls (2011) showed that coactivation can result in better attitudes toward specific advertisements and increased likelihood to share as opposed to strictly unpleasant messages.

To test the evaluative space model, Larsen et al. (2001) surveyed people coming out of a movie, *Life is Beautiful*. The movie is about a father distracting his son with games and fun so the son would not understand the horrors of the concentration camp they lived in during the holocaust. After the movie, people reported feeling both happy and sad. Although different situations, Larsen et al. (2001) found similar feelings when surveying students who were moving out of their dorm rooms at the end of a school year

as well as students graduating from college. They felt both happy and sad compared to students in more typical situations.

Williams and Aaker (2002) examined the experience of conflicting emotions to understand the impact mixed emotions can have on persuasive outcomes and why these specific outcomes might arise. Individuals that showed a lower propensity to accept duality had more negative attitudes toward mixed emotional appeals as opposed to those that were more comfortable with the mixed appeals (Williams and Aaker, 2002). Negative attitudes did not result from individuals focusing on negative emotions elicited from the stimuli. Rather, Williams and Aaker (2002) found that discomfort influenced attitudes and mixed emotional messages. Their results showed that mixed emotional appeals led to higher levels of discomfort for those with that lower propensity to accept duality compared to those with a higher propensity (Williams & Aaker, 2002).

#### 2.6 EMOTIONAL FLOW

More and more we are seeing messages with different emotional cues within them. By adopting Oceja and Carrera's (2009) sequential pattern of mixed emotions, emotional flow is conceptualized to explicate how emotions evolve in response to changing content within a message. In her study examining persuasive health messages, Nabi (2015) defines emotional flow as "the evolution of the emotional experience during exposure to a health message, marked by one or more emotional shifts" (p. 117). Those shifts can include negative to positive, positive to negative, or of a negative or positive emotional state to one of the same valence (e.g. fear to anger; Nabi 2015). Nabi's (2015) emotional flow is more concerned about the flow of one emotion to another within one single message illustrating the sequential pattern of mixed emotions proposed by Oceja

and Carrera (2009) as opposed to much of the other mixed emotions research which looked at emotions within the context of separate messages.

The idea itself is not novel. In their study on "inhibitory" versus "anticipatory" fear, Leventhal and Trembly (1968) found that fear appeals elicited disgust in addition to fear. Dillard et al. (1996) asked about several discrete emotions (anger, fear, sadness, happiness, surprise, and puzzlement) in a study examining public service announcements (PSAs) about AIDS. Findings showed that 28 out of the 31 PSAs induced at least two emotions and 16 evoked three emotions (Dillard et al., 1996). O'Keefe (2002) found that anger might be a consequence of guilt and humor is often involved with a variety of other emotions including surprise, disgust, and guilt (Caterina & Incasa, 2010; Weems, 2014; Hemenover & Schimmack, 2007). The above-mentioned studies looked at emotions as offshoots of the persuasion process, or at the very least incidental. The emotional flow concept is novel in the sense that emotions can ideally be intentionally generated in a specific sequence as a way to evoke specific attitudes and behaviors (Nabi, 2015). The sequencing is especially important to our understanding of how discrete emotions work together to reach persuasive goals which ultimately helps in message design (Nabi, 2015).

There is a dearth of literature regarding the persuasive effects of emotional shifts contained within single messages. However, some research has found that shifts from a negative to positive state and from a positive to negative state outperformed single valenced messages specifically in the context of avoiding excessive drinking (Carrera et al., 2008; Carrera et al., 2010). The studies argue that the emotional shift's message had

greater influence due to a reduction in defensive processing and increase perceptions of self-efficacy specifically in negative-positive shifts.

Emotional flow is an important concept because it helps flesh out a univalenced view of emotional research. Witte (1992) showed that in fear appeals research, a threat is shown followed by some sort of efficacy information. The univalenced approach considers the weighting of the threat and efficacy information together in order to judge the success of the fear appeal (Rogers, 1983; Witte, 1992). However, an emotional flow approach would look at those as two different constructs. A threat could cause fear but then efficacy could lead to hope or relief which would then have its own action tendency (Nabi, 2015). In a similar vein, Fitzgerald et al. (2019) examined the efficacy of restorative narratives, stories that share experiences of hope and resilience at the end of a threat appeal and found that these restorative narratives may promote greater prosocial behavior compared to narratives that only focus on negative outcomes (i.e., threat messages).

In a theoretical paper proposing emotional flow, Nabi (2015) suggests that a flow of humor-sadness-hope can be an effective persuasive device since humor promotes attention to the message, sadness with its negative valence promotes deeper message processing, and hope motivates individuals to act. The purpose of this dissertation is to empirically test this specific sequential emotional pattern within the confines of a single message. Most importantly, in order to better understand the unique effects of this specific emotional flow, this dissertation compares its effects on key dependent variables with two control groups of differing emotional flows: humor-sadness and humor-sadness-

neutral conditions. What follows is a more detailed discussion of each specific discrete emotion contained in this particular emotional flow.

Humor is an emotion that has received a great deal of attention in advertising research and is used extensively to promote positive responses to advertising messages (Markiewicz, 1974; Strick et al., 2009). Humor has shown a propensity for increasing message attention and producing positive affect and was also found to increase ad liking, brand liking, and purchase intention (Eisand, 2009, 2011; Gulas & Weinberger, 2006). Humor is attention-getting and pleasant and there is evidence that it provokes deeper message processing (Nabi et al., 2007; Young, 2008).

Izard (1977) says sadness, or distress, is arguably the most commonly experienced negative emotion. The emotion results from feelings of irrevocable loss, physical or psychological pain, and failure to achieve a goal (Izard, 1977; Lazarus, 1991; Plutchik, 1980; Tomkins, 1963). The action tendency of sadness can cause someone to enter a state of inaction or withdrawal to find comfort or think about loss (Frijda, 1986; Lazarus, 1991; Roseman et al., 1994). Izard (1993) says that sadness can slow down both cognitive and motor systems. This can help individuals deal with stress by relying on others and maintain social bonds (Izard, 1977). Sadness also motivates problem solving by causing people to focus on details that might lead to possible solutions to problems (Izard, 1977, 1993). Nabi (2015) concurs by saying that sadness is associated with deeper thinking and greater elaboration on problems or situations. This is supported by Affect-As-Information Theory which posits that people rely on current feelings as a heuristic to make complex judgements as long as those feelings are relevant to the object of judgement. Negative affect lets individuals know something may be wrong which

encourages detailed attention and processing so that they may rectify the situation (Clore, 1992; Schwarz, 1990; Schwarz & Clore, 1983). Additionally, negative affective valence sometimes signals that a person's knowledge, expectations, and inclinations are inadequate and thus lead to detailed, or systematic, processing (Clore & Storbeck, 2006; Schwarz & Clore, 1996).

Hope is the feeling of "wishing and yearning for relief from a negative situation, or for the realization of a positive outcome when the odds do not greatly favor it" (Lazarus, 1991, p. 282). Lazarus (1991) views hope as an antidote to despair and in the context of this dissertation, sadness. Other researchers characterize hope as an expectation that a desired goal will be attained (Averill et al., 1990; Bruininks & Malle, 2005; Farran et al., 1995; McGeer, 2004; Pettit, 2004; Stotland, 1969). Appeals in which threatening or negative information is followed by efficacy information could feasibly generate hope (Nabi, 2015). Likewise, Fitzgerald et al. (2019) argue that stories that highlight hope may be more influential compared to those that only focus on negative trajectories, due in part to their themes of resilience and strength.

Snyder (1994) posits that hope has an appraisal tendency of executing the means to attain desired goals (agency thinking). Snyder (2000) further articulated that selfefficacy indicates that one can perform a behavior while hope indicates that a person wants to do a behavior. Nabi (2015) points out that self-efficacy information can generate positive health behavior due to generating feelings of hope. Prestin (2013) shows that self-efficacy is not the only way to do so and that offering inspirational stories may also serve as a way to generate hope.

#### 2.7 AROUSAL

Nabi (2015) described the concept of emotional flow as suggesting that unique sets of information are revealed within a persuasive message. As these elements are revealed, emotional responses shift which can help explain the success of the message. These shifts can enhance persuasion for two reasons. First, individual emotions have specific unique effects on message processing depth and action tendencies (Nabi et al, 2018). Second, physiological arousal plays a very strong role in emotional experiences and emotions in one part of a message can influence emotional intensity in subsequent parts of the message (Nabi et al, 2018; Nabi & Myrick, 2018).

According to Excitation Transfer Theory, physiological arousal associated with emotional experiences takes longer to dissipate than associated cognitions (Zillman, 1983). If one stimulus produces an arousal response and a second stimulus is presented close to the first and is also arousing, the two sources may combine to produce more intense arousal responses (Zillman, 1983). "If one is aroused physiologically, one's emotional response to subsequent events is likely to be more intense" (Nabi, 2018, 446). In this dissertation, the emotional response of arousal is measured by both physiological arousal and self-report arousal. Specifically, physiological arousal is measured through galvanic skin response (GSR). Second, self-report arousal is measured with AdSAM scale (Morris et al., 2005).

As stated above, a flow containing two emotions could generate more arousal response than a message that contains just a single emotion. For example, a message containing humor-sadness flow should be more arousing than a message that is only sad. Building upon that, because physiological arousal and emotions are correlated, adding a

third discrete emotion to the flow should influence the intensity of emotions further (Nabi, 2018; Nabi & Myrick, 2018; Zillman, 1983). Once a stimulus that produces an arousal response is combined with another, they can potentially act together for a more intense arousal response (Zillman, 1983). Adding the third emotion to the flow, in this case hope, should cause even more intensity in physiological arousal compared to other emotional flows.

To possibly clarify the effect that adding a third discrete emotion to the emotional flow has on arousal, it makes sense to include an emotional flow condition with a neutral portion in place of hope. By including a neutral segment instead of a third emotion in the flow, excitation transfer can essentially be tested to see if it is the emotion that is transferring arousal or the length of the entire flow. Again, using both psychophysiological and the self-report arousal, the following hypotheses are proposed:

**H1:** The humor-sadness-hope emotional flow will have a higher number of GSR peaks than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows.

**H2:** The humor-sadness-hope emotional flow will have higher levels of selfreported arousal response than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows.

Arousal can enhance both positive and negative emotions in a way that someone who is experiencing a positive emotion will find even more feelings of pleasantness when arousal response is high and less when arousal response is low (Horney, 2013). Emotional flow suggests that people can experience unique emotions in sequence. As the message continues to play, the flow of separate emotions builds and later emotional responses can be stronger than they otherwise might have been if experienced separately

(Nabi, 2018). Emotional responses, such as arousal, have been shown in advertising literature to mediate the relationship between advertising content and attitudes and behaviors (e.g. Edell & Burke, 1987; Holbrook & Batra, 1987). It is likely that physiological arousal plays a mediating role in the attitudes and behavior measures. The following hypotheses are proposed:

**H3:** Physiological arousal response (as measured by average number of peaks) will mediate the relationship between the different emotional flows and a) message engagement, b) attitudes toward the video, c) risk perceptions, and d) information seeking.

H4: Arousal response, as measured by the PAD scale, will mediate the relationship between the different emotional flows and a) message engagement,b) attitudes toward the video, c) risk perceptions, and d) information seeking.

#### 2.8 EXPRESSED VALENCE

Humor is a discrete emotion with positive valence. Research shows that it can produce both positive affect as well as increase ad attitude (Eisand, 2009; Gulas & Weinberger, 2006). Sadness can result from feelings of loss and pain, as well as failure to achieve a goal (Izard, 1977; Lazarus, 1991; Plutchik, 1980; Tomkins, 1963). The action tendency of sadness can cause someone to enter a state of inaction or withdrawal (Frijda, 1986; Lazarus, 1991; Roeseman et al., 1994). Like humor, hope is a positively valenced emotion, an antidote to sadness (Lazarus, 1991).

Mood Management Theory (MMT) argues that emotions are driven by hedonic motivations to keep positive feelings and alter negative emotions into more favorable ones (Zillman, 1988). Though the focus of this dissertation is not about mood but rather

emotion, valence response is an important part of both. It is logical that when viewing a stimulus that elicits a positive emotion, an individual would want to keep the positive valence response when confronted with a negative emotion. Mood Management Theory and Excitation Transfer Theory (Zillman, 1983, 1988) would predict that the humor-sadness-hope sequence would create a positive valence response. From an MMT standpoint, since individuals prefer more positive-valenced states, ending the sequence on a positive emotion should create that positive state. Additionally, the literature on restorative narratives, which highlight hope and resilience, have shown to be successful in persuasive efforts, particularly in health and prosocial endeavors (Fitzgerald, et al., 2019). By ending on a positive emotion and with that positive emotion being one of hope, the thought is that participants may have more positive emotional responses.

In addition to measuring physiological arousal in real-time, this dissertation also adopts facial expression analysis to track the level of positive emotions expressed throughout the process of message exposure. Second-by-second emotional valence response activity is recorded using a web camera combined with software that measures a combination of facial actions (McDuff et al., 2016). The coding is built on the AFFECTIVA emotional facial action coding system using a sale of 0 (absent) to 100 (present). Scores that are higher than 50% are the threshold for deciding the predominant emotion present (Bellman et al., 2017; McDuff et al. 2016). Self-report valence response is measured using the AdSAM scale. For the dimension of valence, or pleasure, participants choose one of a series of graphic characters that range from very positive to very negative feelings (Morris, 2019).

H5: The humor-sadness-hope emotional flow will have higher positive emotional expression than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows.H6: The humor-sadness-hope emotional flow will have higher self-reported pleasure scores than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows.

#### 2.9 DEPENDENT VARIABLES

As two important dimensions of emotional response, arousal and valence can manifest themselves to influence perceptual and attitudinal responses (Nabi, 2002). For example, humor can have positive effects on ad attitude (Eisand, 2009; Gulas & Weinberger, 2006). Fazio et al. (1986) proposed the Affect Priming Theory which posits attitudes can be activated based on exposure to attitude objects. In other words, if an individual feels positive, they are primed to feel more positive thoughts and conversely, if they are in a negative emotional state, their thoughts will be more negative. Based on Fazio et al.'s (1986) Affect Priming Theory and Excitation Transfer Theory (Zillman, 1988), the fact that the humor-sadness-hope flow begins and ends with positive emotions, and the intensity of those emotions can build through the flow, that positive frame should carry over to attitudes about the video as well. The point of emotional flow is to strategically structure the appeals that evoke the emotions in a sequence that facilitates that persuasive process (Nabi, 2015). In the case of this dissertation, that includes capturing attention, promoting deeper message processing, and promoting behaviors. As such, in addition to attitude, the following dependent variables are tested.

Perceived risk is the belief that one is vulnerable to a particular disease and can also be seen as a predictor of self-protective behavior (Rimal & Real, 2003). According

to Wilson (2000), information seeking is the purposeful act of seeking information in order to satisfy a need or meet a specific goal. Online engagement such as viral behaviors like likes, clicks, views, and shares, have been used as metrics to measure the success of online advertising campaigns (Association of National Advertisers, 2014). Cognitively or affectively engaging with a brand (e.g., commenting on a post) is one level of engagement while advocating for a brand (e.g., liking or sharing a YouTube video) represents an even deeper investment with a brand (Gavilanes, Flatten, & Brettel, 2018). With greater attention, message processing, and positive health behaviors that humor, sadness, and hope are associated with, coupled with the increasing intensity of emotions through the emotional flow progression, the following hypothesis proposed:

**H7:** People who watch the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow will have a) more positive attitudes toward the video, b) higher risk perceptions, and c) higher information seeking, and d) higher message engagement than those that watch the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows.
# CHAPTER 3

## METHODOLOGY

## 3.1 STUDY DESIGN

This study employed a three-condition between-subject experimental design (3: humor-sadness-hope vs. humor-sadness vs. humor-sadness-neutral). The University Human Subjects Review Board approved all of the study procedures and protocols. 3.2 STUDY PARTICIPANTS

The study utilized the biometrics laboratory on the campus of the University of South Carolina, so participants were students from the school. Participants were recruited from across campus by contacting instructors of various courses in order to enlist students. Students were able to sign up for the study and participate for credit in their respective classes or a \$10 Amazon gift card. Covid protocols required participants to wear a mask inside the lab until the researcher left the room and the experiment began.

Based on a power analysis using G\* Power software, a single factor experiment with three conditions yielding a large effect size (f = 0.4) and power of .8 suggested a total sample size of 52. As such, the study was able to secure 52 participants. The sample size in this dissertation was limited by the COVID restrictions and protocols that were in place while this research was conducted.

### 3.3 STIMULI DEVELOPMENT

The study used the video *Dear 16-Year-Old Me*, a public service announcement featuring individuals speaking to the camera about experiences with melanoma. The first segment of the video includes bits of humorous advice to their 16-year-old selves such as "There will be a new set of Star Wars movies coming out. Do not watch them, they ruin everything." The video then proceeds to focus on the symptoms of melanoma and the sadness that accompanies losing someone from melanoma. The video concludes with ways of preventing melanoma and treatments that provide hope to those who view it. 3.4 PRETEST

To test for elicitation of the three specific emotions, the *Dear 16-Year-Old Me* PSA was divided into four separate segments: humor, sadness, hope, and neutral. A pretest (N = 75) was conducted among a group of *MTurk* participants who did not take part in the main experiment in order to assess the manipulation of the individual video segments. Each participant watched the respective segments in a random order and then answered several questions to indicate how the videos made them feel. A series of within-subject ANOVAs were conducted to test that each individual segment elicited the appropriate emotion. The humor video received the highest score on the humor scale (*M* = 4.96, SD = 1.33, *F* (3, 300) = 7.41, *p* < .001,  $\eta_p^2$  = .07) compared to sadness (*M* = 3.9, SD = 1.66) and hope (*M* = 4.31, SD = 1.33). The sadness video received the highest score on the sadness scale (*M* = 4.75, SD = 1.55, *F* (3, 300) = 7.83, *p* < .001,  $\eta_p^2$  = .07) compared to humor (*M* = 3.56, SD = 1.75) and hope (*M* = 3.76, SD = 1.60). The hope video received the highest score on the hope scale (*M* = 5.42, SD = 1.14, *F* (3, 300) = 3.73, *p* < .001,  $\eta_p^2$  = .04) compared to sadness (*M* = 4.85, SD = 1.50). There was not a significant difference at the p < .05 level between hope and humor in the hope video. This was not a concern though because they are both positively valanced emotions. There was not a significant difference at the p < .05 level between humor, hope, or sadness in the neutral video, which was the desired outcome as the neutral video was not meant to elicit any strong emotional response. Thus, all segments were successful.

To create the humor-sadness emotional flow, the video played the humor and sad clips combined and ran for 1:48. The humor-sadness-hope flow was a combination of the three clips and ran for 3:20. The humor-sadness-neutral flow consisted of the humor and sadness clips combined with a portion of the neutral informational video listing causes of melanoma. There was a transition between the sadness and neutral portion of the video that was a black screen containing the words "here are some causes of melanoma." This video ran for 3:28. The difference in time from the humor-sadness-hope and humorsadness-neutral was due to the location of a natural cut-off point. For the neutral portion of the video, an informative clip about melanoma was chosen as opposed to a random neutral clip so it would relate to the subject matter of the entire video.

### **3.5 EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURE**

The experiment was conducted in the biometric lab located on the campus of the University of South Carolina in Columbia, South Carolina. Participants were welcomed to the lab by a researcher. After giving their permission, they were introduced to the biometric laboratory. Physiological arousal response was recorded using a GSR device from Shimmer Sensing and the iMotions biometric research platform. Skin conductance was measured using two Ag/AgCl surface electrodes. The electrodes were placed on the palmar surface of the middle finger and the index finger of each participant's

nondominant hand with Velcro straps. The unconscious valence response was assessed using iMotions software which operated via a digital camera, placed on top of the computer monitor.

Participants were randomly assigned to one of the three emotional flow videos. During the experiment, biometric data was recorded in real time while participants watched the video associated with their experimental treatment condition. After viewing the video, all participants completed a questionnaire containing the self-reported dependent measures of emotions, attitudes and behavioral intentions.

## **3.6 DEPENDENT MEASURES**

**Skin conductance.** To measure arousal response, a base level was first taken by measuring the amplitude of peaks in arousal between the participants putting on the sensors and the beginning of the experiment (viewing of the video). Physiological arousal response was then measured as the number of peaks that exceed the amplitude of the base arousal level (Langner, Schmidt, & Fischer, 2015). The spikes in arousal that exceed the baseline were tallied for each participant via the software. Measuring peak amplitudes that exceed baseline amplitude has been shown to provide valid, reliable, and objective measures of physiological arousal response (Boucsein, 2012; Fox et al., 2018).

**Observed facial valence**. Valence as a facial response was measured via the digital camera in front of the participant that obtained biometric data through automatic sensors that measure facial muscle movement and the resulting expressions (Smith & Rose, 2019). The iMotions software then matches facial expressions to their respective emotional profiles (Ekman & Friesen, 1978). Using the iMotions Facial Expression Analysis Module, a webcam synchronizes facial emotions expressed with stimuli in real-

time (Gonzalez-Rodriguez et al., 2020). 20 facial-expression measures (action units), such as cheek rise (indicating smile) and eyebrow furrow (indicating frustration), are analyzed, as well as the expression of seven core emotions: joy, anger, fear, disgust, contempt, sadness, and surprise. Values on the expected emotion are then provided by the software (Gonzales-Rodriguez et al., 2020). Second-by-second facial activity is measured on a scale from 0 to 100% indicating the likelihood of the expression of such activity.

**PAD.** Self-reported measures for emotional response were collected using the Advertising Self-Assessment Manikin (AdSAM, Morris et al., 1994). AdSAM visually assesses the pleasure, arousal, and dominance dimensions via a graphic character placed along a continuous nine-point scale (Morris, 2019). The first row includes the pleasure scale, and the figures range from a smiling happy face to a frowning unhappy face. The second row is the arousal scale and includes figures which range from extremely calm with eyes closed to excited figures with open eyes and raised eyebrows. The dominance scale represents changes in control via changes in size of the manikins from a large figure to small figure indicating levels of control (Morris, 2019). Again, the emotional response measures are conceptualized as two-dimensional and only focuses on the pleasure and arousal dimensions of the PAD scale.

Attitude. Attitude toward the public service announcement was measured with four items on a seven-point scale based on previous research examining issue involvement (Maheswaran & Meyers-Levy, 1990). The items measured included useful/extremely useful, favorable/extremely unfavorable, extremely bad idea/good idea, and not at all important/very important. The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 5.61, SD = 0.98, Cronbach's  $\alpha = .88$ ).

**Perceived Risk**. Perceived risk was assessed based on scales adapted from health communication research (Pepper et al., 2015; Wong & Capella, 2009). Perceived risk of melanoma was based on four items on a seven-point scale. Items included what participants thought the likelihood that sun exposure would cause them to develop melanoma, whether they worried about health risks of sun exposure, whether they think about the health risks of sun exposure, and whether they feel afraid about developing melanoma. The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 5.41, SD = 1.48, Cronbach's  $\alpha = .79$ ).

**Information Seeking**. Information seeking was measured using two statements adapted from Griffin et al. (2008) on a seven-point scale. Those statements read "When it comes to the topic of melanoma, I am likely to go out of my way to get more information" and "When the topic of melanoma comes up, I will try to learn more about it." The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 4.32, SD = 1.76, Spearman-Brown  $\alpha = .80$ ).

**Message Engagement**. Message engagement was measured using three statements on a seven-point scale. Those statements, based on research from Alhabash et al. (2015) were "If I see this ad on YouTube, I would 'like' it on YouTube," "If I see this ad on YouTube, I would share it with my friends," and "If I see this ad on YouTube, I would comment on it on YouTube." The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 3.54, SD = 1.67, Cronbach's  $\alpha = .74$ ).

## **3.7 COVARIATES**

**Concern for Developing Melanoma**. Although most people are exposed to sun in some way, that does not necessarily mean that they are at risk for developing

melanoma. However, it is important to control for possible concerns for developing melanoma due to sun exposure. Adapted from research by Sherman et al. (2000), participants were asked, "how concerned are you that you have not taken enough precautions to protect yourself from melanoma." The question was asked on a sevenpoint scale.

**Issue Relevance.** Issue relevance was measured using three statements on a seven-point scale adapted from previous research (Morris, Choi, & Chu, 2016). These statements were "Melanoma related to my personal interests," "Melanoma is related to me," and "Melanoma is of concern to me." The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 5.03, SD = 1.68, Cronbach's  $\alpha = .90$ ).

**Credibility.** Credibility was measured using two statements on a seven-point scale adapted from previous research (Nan, 2013). The statements were "In my view, the video contains credible information about melanoma," and "In my view, the video about melanoma is trustworthy." The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 6.14, SD = 1.11, Spearman-Brown  $\alpha = .91$ ).

**Perceived Realism.** Perceived realism was measured with three statements on a seven-point scale adapted from previous research (Zhang, 2015). These statements were "The video portrayed the dangers of melanoma accurately," "The video portrayed the dangers of melanoma realistically," and "The video portrayed the dangers of melanoma in a believable way." The items were averaged to form a single reliable index (M = 6.27, SD = .70, Cronbach's  $\alpha = .86$ .

## **CHAPTER 4**

## RESULTS

## **4.1 MANIPULATION CHECK**

Each individual emotion for each clip was examined during the pretest before combining them into their specific emotional flows. Hope is the main emotion that may differentiate responses in all three groups. Therefore, hope was used as the manipulation check to see how people perceived the entire emotional flow in each of the three conditions.

A one-way between-groups analysis of variance was conducted to determine if the humor-sadness-hope flow would have a significantly higher hope measure than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows. Participants were divided into three groups according to which emotional flow they viewed (Group 1: Humor-Sadness, Group 2: Humor-Sadness-Hope, Group 3: Humor-Sadness-Neutral). There was a statistically significant difference in the amount of hope felt in the humor-sadness-hope flow compared to the humor-sadness flow and humor-sadness-neutral flow (F (2, 49) = 6.71, p= .03,  $\eta_p^2$  = .22). Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicate that people had higher levels of hope when viewing the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow (M= 5.13, SE = .37) than those who viewed the humor-sadness-neutral (M = 3.75, SE = .27) emotional flow at the p < .05 level as well as the humor-sadness emotional flow (M = 4.25, SE = .26) but at a marginally significant level, p = .06. This can likely be attributed to the small sample size. The humor-sadness-hope emotional flow successfully produced more hope in participants and the manipulations were successful.

## 4.2 HYPOTHESIS TESTING

Arousal. H1 stated that the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow would have a higher number of GSR peaks than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows. To test for differences in number of GSR peaks, first a base arousal response was taken, measured as the amplitude of peaks from when participants first entered the lab until they began the experiment (Esmark Jones et al., 2019). Arousal response was then measured as the number of peaks that exceeded the amplitude of the initial base level (Langner et al., 2015). A one-way between-groups analysis of variance was conducted to determine if the humor-sadness-hope flow would have a higher number of GSR peaks than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows. Participants were divided into three groups according to which emotional flow they viewed (Group 1: Humor-Sadness, Group 2: Humor-Sadness-Hope, Group 3: Humor-Sadness-Neutral). There was no statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in peak amplitude for the three different emotional flow sequences: F(2, 49) = 0.51, p = .61,  $\eta_p^2 = .03$ . Humor-Sadness (M = 3.39, SD = 2.85), Humor-Sadness-Hope (M = 3.41, SD = 3.30), Humor-Sadness-Neutral (M = 3.53, SD = 2.77). Therefore, H1 is not supported.

H2 proposed that the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow would have higher levels of self-reported arousal response than the humor-sadness and humor-sadnessneutral emotional flows. A one-way between-groups analysis of variance was conducted to determine if the humor-sadness-hope flow would have higher self-reported arousal response than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows. There was a

statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in arousal level for the three different emotional flow sequences. F(2, 49) = 4.87, p = .01,  $\eta_p^2 = .17$ . Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicate that people had higher levels of arousal when viewing the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow (M= 5.41, SE = .48) than those who viewed the humor-sadness (M = 4.06, SE = .31) or humor-sadness-neutral (M = 3.88, SE = .33) emotional flows. H2 is supported.

**Mediation Analysis.** To test for the mediation effects of physiological arousal, a multi-categorical mediation analysis with 5,000 bootstrapped samples specified in order to generate percentile-based 95% confidence intervals was conducted using Model 4 of the PROCESS macro for SPSS (Hayes, 2018). Emotional Flow Group was the independent variable. There were three different emotional flows so two dummy variables were created using the humor-sadness flow as the reference level ( $X_1$  indicated the difference between humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope and  $X_2$  indicated the difference between humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows). Message engagement, attitude, risk perceptions, and information seeking were the dependent variables and average number of peaks was the mediator.

H3 predicted that physiological arousal response would mediate the relationship between the different emotional flows and a) message engagement, b) attitudes toward the video, c) risk perceptions, and d) information seeking. When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and message engagement, (point estimate = .06, SE<sub>boot</sub>=.47, 95% CI = -.89 to 1.01). When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and message engagement (point estimate =  $.03 \text{ SE}_{boot} = .47, 95\% \text{ CI} = -.92 \text{ to } .98$ ). H3a is not supported.

Results indicate that when considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and attitude, (point estimate = .25,  $SE_{boot}$  = .25, 95% CI = -.26 to .76). When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadnessneutral flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and attitude (point estimate = .29,  $SE_{boot}$  = .25, 95% CI = -.22 to .80). H3b is not supported

When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadnesshope flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and risk perceptions, (point estimate = .04,  $SE_{boot}$ =.41, 95% CI = -.77 to .86). When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and risk perceptions (point estimate = .36,  $SE_{boot}$ =.41, 95% CI = -.07 to .17). H3c is not supported.

When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadnesshope flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and information seeking behavior, (point estimate = .56,  $SE_{boot}$  = .58, 95% CI = -.60 to 1.72). When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadnessneutral flow, the number of peaks did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and information seeking behavior (point estimate = .43,  $SE_{boot}$  = .58, 95% CI = -.73 to 1.60). H3d is not supported.

H4 stated that self-reported arousal response would mediate the relationship between the different emotional flows and a) message engagement, b) attitudes toward the video, c) risk perceptions, and d) information seeking behavior. To test for mediation effects of self-reported arousal, a multi-categorical mediation analysis with 5,000 bootstrapped samples was conducted using Model 4 of the PROCESS macro for SPSS (Hayes, 2018). Emotional Flow Group was again the independent variable using the same dummy codes. Message engagement, attitude, risk perceptions, and information seeking behavior were the dependent variables and the arousal score from the PAD scale was the mediator.

The mediation analysis indicates that when considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, arousal response significantly mediates the relationship between emotional flow and message engagement (point estimate = -.34,  $SE_{boot}$  = .25, 95% CI = -.94 to -.003). In the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow, higher levels of arousal response led to lower message engagement. This relationship was entirely indirect as the direct path leading from X<sub>1</sub> and arousal response was not statistically significant ( $\beta$  = .28, SE = .49, 95% CI = -.70 to 1.26). Analysis indicates that when considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flow, arousal response did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and message engagement (point estimate = -.15, SE<sub>boot</sub> = .46, 95% CI = -1.07 to .78). H4a is supported.

Results of the mediation analysis indicate that when considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, arousal response does not significantly mediate the relationship between emotional flow and attitude (point estimate

= .36, SE<sub>boot</sub>= .26, 95% CI = -.17 to .88). When considering the relationship between the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow and the humor-sadness-neutral emotional flow, arousal response does not significantly mediate the relationship between emotional flow and attitude (point estimate = .21, SE<sub>boot</sub> = .25, 95% CI = -.28 to .70). H4b is not supported.

Analysis shows that when considering the differences between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, arousal response significantly mediates the relationship between emotional flow and perceived risk (point estimate = -.29, SE<sub>boot</sub>=.19, 95% CI = -.72 to -.01). In the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow, higher levels of arousal lead to lower risk perceptions. Once again, this relationship was entirely indirect as the direct path leading from X<sub>1</sub> and arousal response was not statistically significant ( $\beta$  = .25, SE = .41, 95% CI = -.58 to 1.08). When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flow, arousal response did not mediate the relationship between emotional flow and perceived risk (point estimate = .25, SE<sub>boot</sub>=.39, 95% CI = -.54 to 1.03). H4c is supported.

Results also indicate that when considering the difference between the humorsadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, arousal response does not significantly mediate the relationship between emotional flow and information seeking (point estimate = .74,  $SE_{boot}$  = .60, 95% CI = -.47 to 1.95). When considering the relationship between the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow and the humor-sadness-neutral emotional flow, arousal response does not significantly mediate the relationship between emotional flow and information seeking (point estimate = .26,  $SE_{boot}$  = .57, 95% CI = -.88 to 1.40). H4d is not supported.

**Valence.** H5 stated that the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow would have higher positive emotional expression than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows. A one-way between groups analysis of variance was conducted to determine if the humor-sadness-hope flow would have more positive valence response than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral sequences. There was no statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in degree of positive valence response for the three different emotional flow sequences. F(2, 49) = 0.74, p = .49,  $\eta_p^2 = .03$ . Humor-Sadness (M = 53.94, SD = 75.83), Humor-Sadness-Hope (M = 57.35, SD = 131.83), Humor-Sadness-Neutral (M = 20.53, SD = 77.32). Therefore, H5 is not supported.

H6 proposed that the humor-sadness-hope would have higher self-reported pleasure scores than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows. A one-way between groups analysis of variance was conducted to determine if the humorsadness-hope flow would have more positive valence response than the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral sequences. There was a statistically significant difference at the p < .05 level in pleasure level for the three different emotional flows. F(2, 49) = 3.88, p = .03,  $\eta_p^2 = .14$ . Post-hoc comparisons using the Tukey HSD test indicate that people had higher levels of pleasure when viewing the humor-sad-hope emotional flow (M= 4.53, SE = .37) than those who viewed the humor-sadness (M = 3.28, SE = .18) emotional flow. The humor-sadness-neutral emotional flow (M = 3.94, SE = .39) did not differ significantly from the humor-sadness or humor-sadness-hope emotional flows. H6 is supported.

**Other Dependent Variables.** H7 proposed that people who watch the humorsadness-hope emotional flow will have a) more positive attitudes toward the video, b)

higher risk perceptions, and c) higher information seeking behavior, and d) higher message engagement than those that watch the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows. A one-way between-groups analysis of covariance was conducted to compare the differences that the three different emotional flow videos would have on message engagement, attitudes toward the video, risk perceptions, and information seeking. The independent variable was the specific emotional flow (Group 1: Humor-Sadness, Group 2: Humor-Sadness-Hope, Group 3: Humor-Sadness-Neutral). Issue reliability, concern, credibility, and realism were included as covariates.

Results from the ANCOVA showed no significant difference between the three different emotional flows on attitudes toward the video  $F(1, 45) = .28, p = .76, \eta_p^2 = .01$ ( $M_{humor-sadness} = 5.47, SD = 0.83; M_{humor-sadness-hope} = 5.66, SD = 0.69; M_{humor-sadness-neutral} = 5.70, SD = 0.70$ ). H7a is not supported.

Results from the ANCOVA showed no significant difference between the three different emotional flows on risk perceptions of melanoma. F(1, 45) = .71, p = .50,  $\eta_p^2 = .03$  ( $M_{humor-sadness} = 5.33$ , SD = 1.22;  $M_{humor-sadness-hope} = 5.29$ , SD = 1.22;  $M_{humor-sadness-neutral} = 5.61$ , SD = 1.07). H7b is not supported.

Results from the ANCOVA showed no significant difference between the three different emotional flows on information seeking behavior.  $F(1, 45) = .77, p = .47, \eta_p^2 = .03$  ( $M_{humor-sadness} = 4.08, SD = 1.83; M_{humor-sadness-hope} = 4.50, SD = 1.40; M_{humor-sadness-neutral} = 4.38, SD = 1.82$ ). H7c is not supported.

Results from the ANCOVA showed no significant difference between the three different emotional flows on message engagement.  $F(1, 45) = .24, p = .78, \eta_p^2 = .01$ 

 $(M_{\text{humor-sadness}} = 3.59, \text{SD} = 1.37; M_{\text{humor-sadness-hope}} = 3.53, \text{SD} = 1.55; M_{\text{humor-sadness-neutral}} = 3.50, \text{SD} = 1.26$ ). H7d is not supported.

### 4.3 SUMMARY OF FINDINGS

There were no significant results using biometric measurements while selfreported measurements of emotional response provided significant results. As such, there was no significant relationship between biometric and self-reported measures of arousal response and valence response. **See Tables 4.1 and 4.2.** Thus, the hypothesized associations among mediating and dependent variables were not viable.

While the biometric data and attitude and behavioral measurements did not yield significant results, this dissertation is not without significant findings and contributions. The dissertation was successful in finding support for the use of emotional flow as a way to increase the emotional responses of arousal and valence. Specifically, those who watched the video with the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow had higher levels of self-reported arousal compared to those who viewed humor-sadness or humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows. Similarly, those that viewed the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow experienced higher levels of self-reported pleasure compared to those who viewed humor-sadness-neutral emotional flows.

Self-reported arousal response was identified as a mediator between emotional flow and both message engagement and risk perceptions. Specifically, during the humorsadness-hope emotional flow, those who felt higher levels of arousal lead to lower message engagement. Arousal response also mediated the relationship between emotional flow and perceived risk. In the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow, participants feeling higher levels of arousal had lower risk perceptions when it came to melanoma.

**Table 4.1** Means (SDs) and Pearson Correlations between Physiological and Self-<br/>Reported Arousal Responses to Emotional Flow Videos

	М	SD	1	2
1. Average Peaks Per Minute	3.44	2.92		
2. Self-Reported Arousal	4.44	1.69	.02	

*Note: N* = 52

**Table 4.2** Means (SDs) and Pearson Correlations between Physiological and Self-Reported Valence Responses to Emotional Flow Videos

	М	SD	1	2
1. Positive Valence	44.14	97.70		
2. Self-Reported Pleasure	3.90	1.40	.25	

*Note: N* = 52

## CHAPTER 5

#### DISCUSSION

Originally, this dissertation sought to test how different discrete emotions can be sequenced into different flows so that those flows can affect arousal response, valence response, attitudes, and behaviors. Though studies on mixed emotions exist, very few actually examine ways in which emotions can be strategically sequenced into different flows to achieve specific outcomes. A unique aspect of the study was using biometric measurements of the emotional responses physiological arousal and valence. Though results from the biometric measurements were not significant, other findings from this study add valuable information to mixed emotion literature as well as practical implications for those responsible for creating messaging in advertising, marketing, and non-profit industries.

The results contained in this dissertation provide several theoretical implications: (1) the excitation transfer process is supported by arousal responses, such that those that viewed the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow had higher levels of arousal compared to the other emotional flows; (2) mood management may play a role in emotional flow as participants had more positive valence responses when viewing the longer emotional flow that ended on a positive emotion (hope) compared to others; (3) arousal response mediates the effects of emotional flow on perceived risk and message engagement; and (4) sadness was identified as a moderator for both attitude and message engagement. Overall, results showed support for emotional flow as a viable way to structure messages, particular in terms of the emotional responses of arousal and valence, lending strong support to Affect Priming Theory, Mood Management Theory, and Excitation Transfer Theory.

### **5.1 THEORETICAL IMPLICATIONS**

Arousal. First of all, arousal response results seem to confirm the excitation transfer process. Specifically, participants who viewed the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow had higher levels of arousal compared to those who viewed the humorsadness and humor-sadness-neutral flows. As Zillman (1983) argues, if one stimulus produces an arousal response and a second stimulus closely follows, the sources can combine to produce a stronger and more intense arousal response. Nabi (2018) concurs that subsequent emotional responses can be more intense. Through the flow of three discrete emotions, the intensity of arousal response was allowed to continue to build. Due to the flow of three emotions, sadness built arousal response on top of humor and was subsequently built upon by the emotion of hope. This may be attributed to Zillman's (1983) claim that physiological arousal associated with emotions can take time to dissipate. By combining three emotions into a flow, the arousal response triggered by each did not have time to dissipate before the next emotion was presented.

This is further supported by the fact that the humor-sadness emotional flow had lower arousal response scores. There was not a subsequent third emotion that would allow the intensity of the arousal response to continue to build. Similarly, because the neutral portion of the humor-sadness-neutral emotional flow was not associated with any discrete emotion and was therefore truly neutral, the arousal response level may have

dissipated during that portion of the flow. This may add to Zillman's (1983) excitation transfer argument that arousal responses associated with emotional stimuli takes time to dissipate by showing that a neutral portion of an emotional may serve as a buffer for arousal response and give the intensity time to dissipate rather than letting the arousal level continue to build. However, it is worth noting that the humor-sad and humor-sadneutral emotional flows had similar mean arousal scores (M = 4.06 and M = 3.88respectively) so a two emotional flow and a three-step flow that ends with a neutral segment seem to have similar effects on self-reported arousal which can also add to excitation transfer literature.

**Valence.** Results also show that participants who viewed the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow had significantly higher self-reported pleasure levels, or positive valence response, than those who viewed the humor-sadness emotional flow. Zillman (1988) argues that emotions are ultimately driven by hedonic desires and that people want to keep positive feelings and convert negative emotions into positive ones. Using humor as an initial, positive emotion may have acted to put participants in a positive frame of mind via affective priming (Fazio et al., 1986). Through the flow of the message from humor to sadness, participants may have fought to keep their mood positive. As the message continued to flow from sadness to hope, another positive emotion, participants were able to end the message on a positive note and retain their positive valence. This is supported by and may extend Mood Management Theory by using a third emotion to continue valence regulation.

Like arousal, a humor-sadness-hope emotional flow eliciting a more positive valence response is also supported by Zillman's (1983) Excitation Transfer Theory.

Participants were primed to feel positive with the humor portion of the video. The intensity of sadness elicited by the sad portion of the emotional flow may have increased due to the idea that two emotions can combine to produce more intense emotions which is evident by the lower mean scores (M = 3.28) for positive valence response. However, because the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow used three emotions and ended on a positively valenced emotion, the intensity of that positive emotion was higher and thus provided a higher self-reported positive valence response mean score (M = 4.53).

Though not significant, the humor-sadness-neutral emotional flow had a lower mean pleasure score (M = 3.94) than the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow. This could indicate that the neutral message may regulate the intensity of emotions since there were no discrete emotions associated with the neutral portion of the emotional flow.

An important element of this dissertation was the use of biometric measurement. However, all biometric measures proved to be insignificant. From a galvanic skin response perspective, there are elements that can influence GSR measurement. Participants who are experiencing this sort of measurement for the first time are not familiar with the devices which may result in erratic readings. Diurnal fluctuations in eccrine sweat-glands are different for individuals so the time of measurement can also influence results (Najafpour et al., 2017). Though efforts were made to keep a consistent lab environment, temperature and humidity levels can also influence skin conductance (Montagu & Coles, 1966). The placement of electrodes can be problematic because they are placed on participants' fingers which can restrict movement during the experiment. This can compromise ecological validity as the real world is no longer approximated and their reactions may differ from normal real-world reactions (Korpal & Jankowiak, 2018).

Skin conductance is also subject to inter-person variability such as age, gender, ethnicity, and hormonal cycle (Boucsein, 2012). So, although GSR measurement is a robust way to measure electrodermal activity, there are a variety of different circumstances that could influence that measurement.

Ekman (1972) argued that facial expressions are universal and as such, this dissertation used an experimental design based on that assertion. However, that contention has been challenged by others who say that facial expressions vary widely through both contexts and cultures. For example, research has shown that although Westerners and East Asians have similar concepts of how faces display pain, they have different ways of expressing pleasure (Chen et al., 2018). Additionally, other researchers have concluded that little to no evidence exists that people can reliably infer someone's emotions for facial movements. Feldman et al. (2019) agreed that how people communicate emotions varies across cultures and contexts, they also found that facial movements are capable of expressing more than one emotion.

It is important to point out that biometric data was collected simultaneously as each participant watched their respective videos. The self-reported data using AdSAM was collected after the videos were finished. Though each measurement technique has been shown as effective measurements for emotional response (e.g. Morris et al., 2002; Bellman et al., 2017) the difference in time of measurement may have influenced results. As discussed above, there are possible factors such as age and culture that can influence biometric measurement. AdSAM has shown to be effective in children and adults, as well as cross-culturally (Morris, 1995).

**Mediating Role of Arousal.** Data analysis identified the PAD dimension of arousal as an underlying process to explain the effects of different emotional flows on outcome variables such as perceived risk and message engagement. An interesting note is that in the cases of both perceived risk and message engagement, the indirect effect of emotional flow on the outcome variables was significant while the direct effect was not. This is considered indirect-only mediation (Zhao et al., 2010). According to Baron and Kenny (1986) this can be considered the strongest type of mediation and refer to it as full mediation. Zhao et al. (2010) agree and believe that the strength of mediation should be measured by the size of the indirect effect rather than the lack of a direct effect.

Although arousal response did not mediate the relationship between the different emotional flows and attitudes or information seeking behavior, it did act as an underlying mechanism for the effects of the emotional flow on perceived risk and message engagement. Specifically, higher levels of arousal led to lower risk perceptions with a humor-sadness-hope emotional flow. Higher levels of arousal also lead to lower message engagement when participants viewed the video with the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow.

Higher arousal response may lead to lower risk perceptions and message engagement due to Lang's (2000) Limited Capacity Model. The model operates on two main assumptions: people are information processors and their ability to process that information is limited (Lang, 2000). Cognitive psychologists believe that attention is the distribution of cognitive resources available for the encoding of an object or task (Kahneman, 1973; Lang & Basil, 1998). In this case, viewing of the emotional flow. Other evidence supports the contention that messages rated high on emotional arousal

allow for fewer resources available for encoding (e.g., Lang et al., 1999). Because arousal levels were higher in the humor-sadness-hope emotional flow, that arousal response potentially distracted participants from fully attending to the message. Not giving full attention to the message would leave them less engaged with the intended persuasive intent of the message as well as distracted from the information about the risks of the disease, thus resulting in lower message engagement and risk perceptions.

This is not unprecedented in research on emotion, however the results are significant since this dissertation focuses on multiple emotions contained within a single message. Studies using singular emotions have shown that emotions can compete with cognitive processes to reduce attention. Vuilleumier (2005) discusses the way that neural pathways are activated by emotional attention, especially when related to threat, and thus compete with other sources of attention. Eysenck and Calvo (1992) found that anxiety impairs working memory capacity, storing and updating contents of memory, because anxiety can draw resources away from other processing. Other studies using a valenced approach (e.g. Garrison & Schmeichel, 2019) found that working memory capacity is reduced when confronted with emotional information. By showing that a flow of several emotions may also potentially mitigate attention to a message, this dissertation can build on existing studies and extend the Limited Capacity Model further to mixed emotions.

**Moderating Role of Sadness.** Sadness is a core emotion in this study as well as a significant portion of the emotional flow in all three videos. Additionally, it has been used in research to trigger attention and problem solving activity by searching for solutions or seeking out help (Izard, 1977, 1993). It also promotes deeper message processing (Nabi, 2015). Adding a third emotion (i.e., hope) or additional, neutral,

information to a sad video may change the degree or action tendency of sadness. Thus, sadness was checked to see if levels of sadness in different emotional flows potentially impacted different outcome variables.

In testing a model predicting attitude, there was a statistically significant interaction between emotional flow and sadness on attitudes  $F(2, 46) = 4.6, p = .02, \Delta R^2$ = .16. When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadnesshope flow, sadness did not moderate the relationship between emotional flow and attitude ( $\beta = .57$ , SE = .29, 95% CI = -.01 to 1.15). However, when considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flow, inspection of the effect of the humor-sadness-neutral flow at different levels of the moderator indicate that the humor-sadness-neutral flow produces more positive attitudes when sadness is higher ( $\beta$  = .78, SE = .26, 95% CI = .26 to 1.30). See Table 5.1.

The result is interesting in the sense that the neutral portion of the emotional flow seems to again have acted as a sort of regulating factor as far as attitudes are concerned. A neutral portion of an emotional flow possibly plays a consistent regulating role in emotions since results suggest similar effects in regulating arousal response as well as valence response. It is interesting that hope did not act in any sort of regulating or buffering capacity, particularly since it's viewed as an antidote to despair and can generate positive health behaviors (Lazarus, 1991; Nabi, 2015). However, one thing stands out they may help justify a neutral condition acting in a regulatory manner, at least in the context of this study. Participants found the issue of melanoma to have relatively high relevance to themselves (humor-sadness, M = 4.94; humor-sadness-hope, M = 5.13; humor-sadness-neutral M = 5.0). The neutral portion of the humor-sadness-neutral

emotional flow was strictly information about melanoma. Because participants had higher levels of issue relevance, the fact that they were provided with further information about melanoma may allow any residual negativity felt from the sadness portion of the video to subside.

After further moderation analysis using sadness as a moderator, there was a statistically significant interaction between emotional flow and sadness on message engagement F(2, 46) = 4.3, p = .02,  $\Delta R^2 = .16$ . When considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-hope flow, sadness did not moderate the relationship between emotional flow and message engagement ( $\beta = 1.13$ , SE = .55, 95% CI = .01 to 2.21). But when considering the difference between the humor-sadness and humor-sadness-neutral flow, probing the effect of the humor-sad-neutral flow at different levels of the moderator indicate that the humor-sadness-neutral flow produces lower message engagement scores when sadness is lower ( $\beta = 1.40$ , SE = .49, 95% CI = .43 to 2.38). See Table 5.2.

It makes sense that lower sadness levels would produce lower message engagement scores since sadness has been shown to motivate problem solving (Izard, 1977, 1993). The emotion is also associated with deeper processing depth and greater elaboration about problems and situations (Nabi, 2015). It can be argued that these different action tendencies are associated with message engagement since engagement involves investing deeper with messages and decision making about clicks, views, and shares (Association of National Advertisers, 2014; Gavilanes, Flatten, & Brettel, 2018). Though degree of sadness is beyond the scope of the study, it is interesting nonetheless to find that higher and lower levels of sadness can have effects on different outcomes such as attitudes and message engagement.

## **5.2 PRACTICAL IMPLICATIONS**

From a practical standpoint, this dissertation provides valuable insights into creating effective messages regardless of industry. Emotion and persuasion share a strong link and is important to understand how using multiple emotions within a single message can lead to stronger persuasion. This study found support for using an emotional flow with three discrete emotions as a way to increase arousal response. Physiological arousal is central to emotions. However, as Lang (2000) discusses, higher levels of arousal can reduce the capacity to process information. Therefore, it is necessary to be strategic when designing messages. Due to reduced processing capacity, messages with strong peripheral cues may be more effective and have a stronger impact. This is especially important as higher arousal response led to lower message engagement and risk perceptions. Based on the results from this study, if organizations design a message involves deeper message processing, they may consider a univalenced message or if mixed emotions are prudent, use a message with fewer emotional flow points.

High-arousal response is not necessarily a negative trait though. Belanche, Flavian, and Perez-Rueda (2017) found that high-arousal stimuli increased the effectiveness of skippable ads in online advertising. Advertisers, marketers, and nonprofits can introduce high-arousal inducing emotional flows into their skippable video advertising so that users are less likely to click away or skip the video altogether. Higharousal videos were also found to perform better when viewers found the content relevant

to themselves or their needs, in other words, congruent (Belanche, Flavian, & Perez-Rueda, 2017). With the increase in digital advertising and in particular targeted advertising, it would be advantageous for organizations to create videos with emotional flows that result in high arousal response and target consumers that find the content relatable and congruent to their beliefs and needs.

Although Lang et al. (1999) found that messages rating high on emotional arousal allow for fewer resources dedicated to encoding, other research has found that messages that elicit higher arousal are more memorable. Bakalash and Riemer (2013) studied adelicited emotional arousal and found increased amygdala activation in memorable ads vs. non-memorable ads. In other words, higher emotionally arousing ads were more memorable. For marketers and advertisers who desire a memorable ad, they might consider designing messages with multiple emotions that flow together to create a more intense experience.

Much of the substantive data derived from this study involved the intensity of arousal and valence response. It can be argued that the power of persuasion is partly in the intensity of the emotions felt. This dissertation shows that as emotions flow from one distinct, discrete emotion to another, and then to a third, what results is an intensely valenced emotion. In this case, flowing from a positive emotion like humor, to a negative sadness emotion, and ending with a positive emotion like hope resulted in an intense positive valence response compared to a flow that contained only two emotions or two emotions flowing into a neutral segment. This is important information for marketers and advertisers that desire consumers of the message to feel a positive or negative valenced response.

Ultimately, this story is about emotions and their ability to persuade. As Izard (1977) said, human behavior may be completely motivated by emotions. Nabi (2002) concurs and shows that emotions play a strong role in persuasion. To repeat Cicero, "A person who gained mastery both in the evocation of emotion and in the emotional framing of argumentation was believed to be among the most successful practitioners of persuasion (*De Oratore*, trans. 2001; Kennedy, 1994).

## 5.3 LIMITATIONS

Though this dissertation contained strong theoretical and practical information, it is not without its limitations. The sample size was quite small. However, given the conditions put in place due to the COVID-19 pandemic, finding participants for a lab experiment proved quite difficult.

One of the unique aspects of this dissertation was the incorporation of biometric measures of the emotional responses physiological arousal and valence. Results from the tests were insignificant though. This could be partly explained by the lab setting. By its nature, the lab is an unnatural environment. Subjects may not be comfortable mentally or physically during the process. Research has found that research subjects may not pay close attention to stimuli in these settings while participating in experiments (Peterson & Umesh, 2018). Indeed, subjects often seemed hesitant when entering the lab and throughout the experiment. COVID protocols required mask wearing until the experiment started and the subjects were alone in the lab with the researcher a safe distance away. However, concerns about COVID may have influenced participants' state of mind.

Although the videos elicited appropriate emotional responses in self-reports during pre-tests and manipulation checks, COVID protocols prevented pre-testing using

the biometric sensors. The stimuli were effective from a self-reporting point-of-view, particularly with measures of valence and arousal responses. However, the power of emotional flow is in emotions that not only increase in intensity through the flow but do so simultaneously with their action tendencies. The fact that the hypotheses for attitudes and behaviors were not supported could be explained partly by the stimuli not activating the action tendencies of the emotions. This shows the importance of pretesting stimuli with biometrics as well as self-reports.

### **5.4 CONCLUSION**

This dissertation began as a way to address and test Nabi's (2015) new concept of emotional flow, strategically sequencing specific discrete emotions in such a way as to affect arousal, valence, attitudes and behaviors. The study carries significance because there is little research that specifically compares varied sequences of emotions. The study also carried measurements of these emotions beyond the use of self-reporting by incorporating biometric measurements of the emotional responses valence and arousal. Though the results from the biometric results were not significant, they provide a platform from which to launch future research on emotional flow using biometrics as a measurement tool. Using different stimuli with the same emotional flows or testing emotional flows with different discrete emotions provide a wealth of opportunities to further research emotional flow.

Using those self-reports, this dissertation provides strong support for emotional flow as a way to increase both arousal and valence responses. Based on Affect Priming Theory, Mood Management Theory and Excitation Transfer Theory, there is validation that discrete emotions can act together, in sequence, to increase both arousal and valence

responses. Again, this provides opportunities to further explore different discrete emotions and how they interact with each other in future research. Ultimately, emotional flow seems to be a valid construct that is ripe for future study. Nabi's (2015) conceptual paper provided the basis for this dissertation, but hopefully this study provides the basis for different avenues of research regarding the strategic use of discrete emotions sequenced within single messages.

	В	SE B	t	р
Constant	7.96	.97	8.18	<i>p</i> < .001
Emotional Flow Group 1	-2.45	1.30	-1.88	<i>p</i> = .06
Emotional Flow Group 2	-3.44	1.24	-2.78	<i>p</i> < .01
Sadness	54	.29	1.98	<i>p</i> = .05
Emotional Flow Group 1 x Sadness	.57	.29	1.98	<i>p</i> =.06
Emotional Flow Group 2 x Sadness	.78	.26	3.03	<i>p</i> < .01

Table 5.1 Linear Model of Emotional Flow Predictors of Attitude Toward the Video

*Note:*  $R^2 = .18$ 

	В	SE B	t	р
Constant	7.38	1.83	4.03	<i>p</i> <.001
Emotional Flow Group 1	-5.10	2.46	-2.08	p = .04
Emotional Flow Group 2	-6.73	2.33	-2.89	<i>p</i> < .01
Sadness	81	.39	-2.10	<i>p</i> < .05
Emotional Flow Group 1 x Sadness	1.11	.55	2.04	p = .05
Emotional Flow Group 2 x Sadness	1.40	.49	2.89	<i>p</i> < .01

 Table 5.2 Linear Model of Emotional Flow Predictors of Message Engagement.

*Note:*  $R^2 = .17$ 

#### REFERENCES

Alhabash, S., McAlister, A. R., Lou, C., & Hagerstrom. (2015). From clicks to behaviors:
The mediating effect of intentions to like, share, and comment on the relationship
between message evaluations and offline behavioral intentions. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 15(2), 82-96.

- Andrade, E. B., & Cohen, J. B. (2007). On the consumption of negative feelings. *Journal* of Consumer Research, 34, 283-300.
- Association of National Advertisers. (2014). Infographics: 2014 ANA social media content development survey. http://www.ana.net/miccontent/show/id/info-2014ana-social-media-content-development-survey.
- Averill, J. R. (1983). Studies on anger and aggression. *American Psychologist, 38*, 1145-1160.
- Averill, J. R., Catlin, G., & Chon, K. K. (1990). *Rules of hope*. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Bailey, R. L. (2017). Electrodermal activity (EDA). In J. Matthes, C. S. Davis, and R. F.
  Potter (Eds.), *International encyclopedia of communication research methods*, Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Bakalash, T., & Riemer, H. (2013). Exploring ad-elicited emotional arousal and memory for the ad using fMRI. *Journal of Advertising*, 42(4), 275-29

- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173-1182.
- Barrett, L. F. (1998). Discrete emotions or dimensions? The role of valence focus and arousal focus. *Cognition and Emotion*, *12*(4), 579-599.
- Barrett, L. F., Aolphs, R., Marsella, S., Martinez, A. M., & Pollak, S. D. (2019).
   Emotional expressions reconsidered: Challenges to inferring emotion from facial movements. *Psychological Science in the Public Interest, 20*(1).
- Belanche, D., Flavian, C., & Perez-Rueda, A. (2017). Understanding interactive online advertising: Congruence and product involvement in highly and lowly arousing, skippable video ads. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 37, 75-88.
- Bellman, S., Nenycz-Thiel, M., Kennedy, R., Larguinat, L., McColl, B., & Varan, D.
  (2019). Best measure of attention to creative tactics in TV advertising: When do attention-getting devices capture or reduce attention? *Journal of Advertising Research*, 59(3), 295-311.
- Bellman, S., Nenycz-Thiel, M., Kennedy, R., Larguinat, L., McColl, B., & Varan, D. (2017). What makes a television commercial sell? Using biometics to identify successful ads. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 57(1), 53-66.
- Betancourt, H., & Blair, I. (1992). A cognition (attribution)-emotion model of violence in conflict situations. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 18, 343-350.
- Boucsein, W. (2012). *Electrodermal activity*. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Branscombe, N. (1985). Effects of hedonic valence and physiological arousal on emotion: A comparison of two theoretical perspectives. *Motivation and Emotion*, 2, 153-169.
- Brechman, J. M., & Purvis, S. C. (2015). Narrative, transportation and advertising. *International Journal of Advertising*, *34*(2), 366-381.
- Bruininks, P., Malle, B. F. (2005). Distinguishing hope from optimism and related affective states. *Motivation and Emotion, 29*, 327-355.
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Berntson, G. G. (1994). Relationship between attitudes and evaluative space: A critical review, with emphasis on the separability of positive and negative substrates. *Psychological Bulletin*, 115, 401-423.
- Carrera, P., Caballero, A., & Munoz, D. (2008). Comparing the effects of negative and mixed emotional messages on predicted occasional excessive drinking. *Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment, 1,* 1-7.
- Carrera, P., Munoz, D., & Caballero, A. (2010). Mixed emotional appeals in emotional and danger control processes. *Health Communication*, *25*, 726-736.
- Carver, C. S., & White, T. L. (1994). Behavioral inhibition, behavioral activation, and affective responses to impending reward and punishment: The BIS/BAS Scales. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 319-333.
- Caterina, R., & Incasa, I. (2012). Irony, surprise, and humor. In P. Gremigni (Ed.), *Humor and health promotion* (pp. 113-131). Hauppauge, NY: Nova Biomedical Books.

- Chaiken, S. (1980). Heuristic versus systematic information processing and the use of source versus message cues in persuasion. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39, 752-766.
- Chang, C. (2014). Guilt regulation: The relative effects of altruistic versus egoistic appeals for charity advertising. *Journal of Advertising*, *43*(3), 211-227.
- Chen, C., Crivelli, C., Garrod, O. G. B., Schyns, P. G., Fernandez-Dols, J-M., & Jack, R.
  E. (2018). Distinct facial expressions represent pain and pleasure across cultures. *PNAS*, 43, E10013-E10021.
- Clayton, R. B., Leshner, G., Tomko, R. L., Trull, T. J., & Piasecki, T. M. (2017).
   Countering craving with disgust images: Examining nicotine withdrawn smokers' motivated message processing of anti-tobacco public service announcements.
   Journal of Health Communication, 22(3), 254-261.
- Clore, G. L. (1992). Cognitive phenomenology: Feelings and the construction of judgement. In L. L. Martin & A Tesser (Eds.), *The construction of social judgments* (pp. 133-163). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Clore, G. L., & Storbeck, J. (2006). Affect as information about liking, efficacy, and importance. In J. Forgas (Ed.), *Affect in Social Thinking and Behavior* (pp. 123-142). New York: Psychology Press.
- Cohen, J. B., Pham, M. T., & Andrade, E. B. (2008). The nature and role of affect in consumer behavior In C. P. Haugtvedt, P. Herr, & F. Kardes (Eds.), *Handbook of consumer psychology*, Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Damasio, A. R. (1994). Descartes' error. New York: Avon Books.

- Davis, D., & Baran, S. J. (2015). Theories of media cognition and information processing. In *Mass communication theory: Foundations, ferment, and future* (7<sup>th</sup> edition, pp. 227-259). Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.
- Desteno, D., Wegener, D. T., Petty, R. E., Rucker, D. D., & Braverman, J. (2004).
  Discrete emotions and persuasion: The role of emotion-induced expectancies. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 86(1), 43-56.
- Dillard, J. P., Plotnick, C. A., Godbold, L. C., Freimuth, V. S., & Edgar, T. (1996). The multiple affective outcomes of AIDS PSAs: Fear appeals do more than scare people. *Communication Research*, 23, 44-72.
- Eagly, A. H., & Chaiken, S. (1993). *The psychology of attitudes*. Fort Worth, TX: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich.
- Eckler, P., & Bolls, P. (2011). Spreading the virus: Emotional tone of viral advertising and its effect on forwarding intentions and attitudes. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 11(2), 1-11.
- Edell, J. A., & Burke, M. C. (1987). The power of feelings in understanding advertising effects. *Journal of Consumer Research*, *14*(3), 421-433.
- Eisand, M. (2009). A meta-analysis of humor in advertising. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *37*, 191-203.
- Eisand, M. (2011). How humor in advertising works: A meta-analytic test of alternative models. *Marketing Letters, 22,* 115-132.
- Ekman, P. (1972). Universal and cultural differences in facial expressions of emotion. InJ. Cole (Ed.), *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation, 1971* (vol. 19, pp. 207-282).Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

- Ekman, P. & Cordano, D. (2011). What is meant by calling emotions basic. *Emotion Review*, *3*(4), 364-370.
- Ekman, P. & Friesen, W. (1978). Facial action coding system: A technique for the measurement of facial movement. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press.
- Ellsworth, P. C. (1991). Some implications of cognitive appraisal theories of emotion. InK. Strongman (Ed.), *International review of studies on emotion* (pp. 143-161).New York, NY: Wiley.
- Ellsworth, P. C., & Scherer, K. R. (2003). Appraisal processes in emotion In R. J. Davidson, H. H. Goldsmith, & K. R. Scherer (Eds.), *Handbook of the affective sciences* (pp. 572-595). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Escalas, J. E. (2004). Narrative processing: Building consumer connections to brands. Journal of Consumer Psychology, 14(1-2), 168-180.
- Esmark Jones, C. L., Stevens, J. L., Noble, S. M., & Breaseale, M. J. (2019). Panic attack: How illegitimate invasinos of privacy cause consumer anxiety and dissatisfaction. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*. 1-19.
- Eysenck, M. W., & Calvo, M. G. (1992). Anxiety and performance: The processing efficiency theory. *Cognition and Emotion*, *6*, 409-434.
- Farran, C. J., Herth, K. A., & Popovich, J. M. (1995). Hope and hopelessness: Critical, clinical, constructs. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fazio, R. H., Sanbonmatsu, D. M., Powell, M. C., & Kardes, F. R. (1986). On the automatic activation of attitudes. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50, 229-238.

- Feldman, L. A. (1995). Valence-focus and arousal-focus: Individual differences in the structure of affective experience. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69, 153-166.
- Fowles, D. C. (1980). The three arousal model: Implications of Gray's two=factor learning theory for heart rate, electrodermal activity, and psychopathy. *Psychophysiology*, 17, 87-104.
- Fox, A. K., Deitz, G. D., Royne, M. B., & Fox, J. D. (2018). The face of contagion: Consumer response to service failure depiction in online reviews. *European Journal of Marketing*, 52(1/2), 39-65.
- Friesen, W. V., & Ekman, P. (1983). *EMFACS-7: Emotional facial action coding system*.San Francisco, CA: University of California, San Francisco.

Frijda, N. H. (1986). The emotions. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

- Garrison, K. E., & Schmeichel, B. J. (2019). Effects of emotional content on working memory capacity. *Cognition and Emotion*, 33(2), 370-377.
- Gavilanes, J. M., Flatten, T. C., & Brettel, M. (2018). Content strategies for digital consumer engagement in social networks: Why advertising is an antecedent of engagement. *Journal of Advertising*, 47(1), 4-23.
- Gervais, M., & Wilson, D. S. (2005). The evolution and functions of laughter and humor: A synthetic approach. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, *80*, 395-430.
- Gonzalez-Rodriguez, M. R., Diaz-Fernandez, M. C., & Gomez, C. P. (2020). *Telematics* and Informatics, 51.
- Gray, J. A. (1972). The psychophysiological basis of introversion-extra-version: A modification of Eysenck's theory. In V. D. Nebylitsyn & J. A. Gray (Eds.), *The*

*biological bases of individual behavior* (pp. 182-205). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

- Gray, J. A. (1977). Drug effects on fear and frustration: Possible limbic site of action of minor tranquilizers. In L. L. Iversen, S. D. Iversen, & S. H. Snyder (Eds.), *Handbook of psychopharmacology* (Vol. 8, pp. 433-529). New York: Plenum.
- Gray, J. A. (1981). A critique of Eysenck's theory of personality. In H. J. Eysenck (Ed.), *A model for personality* (pp. 246-276). Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Gray, J. A. (1987). Perspectives on anxiety and impulsivity: A commentary. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 21, 493-509.
- Gray, J. A. (1990). Brain systems that mediate both emotion and cognition. *Cognition* and Emotion, 4, 269-288.
- Green, M. C., & Brock, T. C. (2000). The role of transportation in the persuasiveness of public narratives. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 79(5), 701-721.
- Griffin, R. J., Yang, Z., ter Huurne, E., Boerner, F., Ortiz, S., & Dunwoody, S. (2008). After the flood: Anger, attribution, and the seeking of information. *Science Communication*, 29(3), 285-315.
- Gulas, C. S., & Weinberger, M. G. (2006). Humor in advertising: A comprehensive analysis. Armonk, NY: M. E. Sharpe Inc.
- Gunther, A. C., & Thorson, E. (1992). Perceived persuasive effects of product commercials and public service announcements: Third-person effects in new domains. *Communication Research*, 19(5), 574-596.

- Hayes, A. F. (2018). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based perspective (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New York, NY: The Guilford Press
- Hemeover, S. H., & Schimmack, U. (2007). That's disgusting!..., but very amusing. Mixed feelings of amusement and disgust. *Cognition and Emotion*, 21, 1102-1113.
- Herrald, M. M., & Tomaka, J. (2002). Patterns of emotion-specific appraisal, coping, and cardiovascular reactivity during an ongoing emotional episode. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 83, 434-450.
- Hewig, J., Hagemann, D., Seifert, J., Gollwitzer, M., Naumann, E., & Bartussek, D.(2005). A revised film set for the induction of basic emotions. *Cognition and Emotion*, *19*, 1095-1109
- Holbrook, M. B., & Batra, R. (1987). Assessing the role of emotions as mediators of consumer responses to advertising. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 14(3), 404-420.

Horney, K. (2013). The neurotic personality of our time. London: Routledge.

iMotions (2014). *Attention Tool Version 5.4* [computer software]. Cambridge, MA: iMotions.

Izard, C. E. (1977). Human emotions. New York, NY: Plenum Press.

Izard, C. E. (1993). Organizational and motivational functions of discrete emotions. In M. Lewis & J. M. Haviland (Eds.), *handbook of emotions* (pp. 631-641). New York: Guilford Press. Kalyanaraman, S., & Ivory, J. D. (2009). Enhanced information scent, selective discounting, or consummate breakdown: The psychological effects of web-based search results. *Media Psychology*, 12(3), 295-319.

Kahneman, D. (1973). Attention and Effort. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.

- Keene, J. R., and Lang, A. (2016). Dynamic motivated processing of emotional trajectories in public service announcements. *Communication Monographs*, *83*(4), 468-485.
- Keltner, D., Ellsworth, P. C., & Edwards, K. (1993). Beyond simple pessimism: Effects of sadness and anger on social perception. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64, 740-742.
- Keltner, D., & Gross, J. J. (1999). Functional accounts of emotion. *Cognition and Emotion, 13,* 467-480.
- Kennedy, G. A. (1994). A new history of classical rhetoric. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Kim, J. Y., Morris, J. D., & Swait, J. (2008). Antecedents of true brand loyalty. *Journal of Advertising*, 17(2), 99-117.
- Korpal, P., & Jankowiak, K. (2018). Physiological an dself-report measures in emotion studies: Methodological considerations. *Polish Psychological Bulletin, 49*(4), 457-481.
- Lang, A. (2000). The limited capacity model of mediated message processing. *Journal of Communication, 50*(1), 46-70.

- Lang, A., and Basil, M. D. (1998). Attention, resource allocation, and communication research: What do secondary task reaction times measure anyway? Vol. 21.
  Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Lang, A., Bools, P., Potter, R., & Kawahara, K. (1999). The effects of production pacing and arousing content on the information processing of television messages. *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*, 43(4), 451-475.
- Lang, A., & Yegiyan, N. (2011). Individual differences in motivational activation influence responses to pictures of taboo products. *Journal of Health Communication*, 16(10), 1072-1087.
- Lang, P. J., Greenwald, M. K., Bradley, M. M., Hamm, A. O. (1993). Looking at pictures: Affective, facial, visceral, and behavioral reactions. *Psychophysiology*, 30(3), 261-273.
- Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., & Cuthbert, B. N. (1997). Motivated attention: Affect, activation, and action. In P. J. Lang, R. F. Simons, & M. T. Balaban (Eds.), *Attention and orienting: Sensory and motivational processes* (pp. 97-135). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Lang, A., Sanders-Jackson, A., Wang, Z., & Rubenking, B. (2013). Motivated message processing: How motivational activation influences resource allocation, encoding, and storage of TV messages. *Motivation and Emotion*, 37(3), 508-517.
- Langner, T., Schmidt, J., & Fischer, A. (2015). Is it really love? A comparative investigation of the emotional nature of brand and interpersonal love. *Psychology* & Marketing, 32(6), 624-34.

- Larsen, J. T., & McGraw, A. P. (2014). The case for mixed emotions. Social and Personality Psychology Compass, 8(6), 263-274.
- Larsen, J. T., Mcgraw, A. P., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2001). Can people feel happy and sad at the same time? *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *81*(4), 684-696.

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Emotion and adaptation. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

- LeDoux, J. E., & Phelps, E. A., (2000). Emotional networks in the brain. In M. Lewis &
  J. M. Haviland-Jones (Eds.), *Handbook of emotions* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 157-172). New York: Guilford Press.
- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2000). Beyond valence: Toward a model of emotion-specific influences on judgement and choice. *Cognition & Emotion, 14,* 473-493.
- Lerner, J. S., & Keltner, D. (2001). Fear, anger, and risk. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *81*, 146-159.
- Lerner, J. S., Small, D. A., & Lowenstein, G. (2004). Heart strings and pursestrings: Carry-over effects of emotions on economic transactions. *Psychological Science*, 15, 337-341.
- Lerner, J. S., & Tiedens, L. Z. (2006). Portrait of the angry decision maker: how appraisal tendencies shape anger's influence on cognition. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 19, 115-137.
- Lerner, J. S., Li, Y., Valdesolo, P., & Kassam, K. S. (2015). Emotion and decision making. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 66, 799-823.
- Leshner, G., Bolls, P., & Wise, K. (2011). Motivated processing of fear appeal and disgust images in televised anti-tobacco ads. *Journal of Media Psychology*, 23, 77-89.

- Leventhal, H., & Trembly, G. (1968). Negative emotions and persuasion. *Journal of Personality*, 36, 154-168.
- Maheswaran, D., & Meyers-Levy, J. (1990). The influence of message framing and issue involvement. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *27*(3), 361-367.

Markiewicz, D. (1974). Effects of humor on persuasion. Sociometry, 37, 407-422.

- Marks, L. J., & Olson, J. C. (1981). Toward a cognitive structure conceptualization of product familiarity. In K. B. Monroe (Ed.), NA – Advances in Consumer Research (Vol. 8, pp. 145-150).
- Martin, R. A. (2007). *The psychology of humor: An integrative approach*. Burlington,MA: Elsevier Academic Press.
- McDuff, D., Mahmoud, A., Mavadati, M., Amr, M., Turcot, J., & El Kaliouby, R. (2016). AFFDES SDK: A cross-platform real-time multi-face expression recognition toolkit. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI conference extended abstracts on human factors in computing systems*. CHI EA. New York, NY.
- McGraw, A. P., & Warren, C. (2010). Benign violations: Making immoral behavior funny. *Psychological Science*, 21, 1141-1149.
- McGreer, V. (2004). The art of good hope. *Annals of the American Academy of Political* & *Social Science*, *592*, 100-127.

McGuire, W. J. (1969). The nature of attitudes and attitude change. In G. Lindzey & E.
 Aronson (Eds.), *Handbook of social psycology* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Vol. 3, pp. 136-314).
 Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.

- Mcguire, W. J. (1985). Attitudes and attitude change. In G. Lindzey & E. Aronson (Eds.), *Handbook of social psychology* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed., Vol. 2, pp. 233-346). New York: Random House.
- Mehbrabian, A., & Russell, J. A. (1977). Evidence for a three-factor theory of emotions. Journal of Research in Personality, 11, 273-294.
- Montagu, J. D., & Coles, E. M. (1966). Mechanism and measurement of the galvanic skin response. *Psychological Bulletin*, 65, 261-279.
- Morris, J. D. (1995). Observations: SAM: The self-assessment maniking: An efficient cross-cultrual measurement of emotional response. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 35(6), 63-68.
- Morris, J. D. (2019). Theories of emotion: Appeal, engagement, and empowerment in marketing communications. In S. Rodgers & E. Thorson (Eds.), *Advertising theory* (pp. 89-108). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Morris, J. D., Bradley, M. M., & Wei, L. P. (1994, August). Global advertising and affective response: SAM ratings in U.S.A. and Taiwan. Presentation made at the national conference of the Association for Education in Journalism and Mass Communications, Kansas City.
- Morris, J. D., Woo, C., Geason, J. A., & Kim, J. (2002). The power of affect: Predicting intention. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *42*, 7-17.
- Morris, J. D., Woo, C., & Singh, A. J. (2005). Elaboration likelihood model: A missing intrinsic emotional implication. *Journal of Targeting Measurement and Analysis* for Marketing, 14, 79-98.

- Morris, J. D., Klahr, N. J., Shen, F., Villegas, J., Wright, P., He, G., & Liu, Y. (2009).Mapping a multidimensional emotion in response to television commercials.*Human Brain Mapping*, 30, 789-796.
- Morris, J. D., Choi, Y., & Ju, I. (2016). Are social marketing and advertising communications (SMACS) meaningful?: A survey of Facebook user emotional responses, source credibility, personal relevance, and perceived intrusiveness. *Journal of Current Issues & Research in Advertising*, 37(2), 165-182.
- Mukherjee, A., & Dube' Laurette. (2012). Mixing emotions: The use of humor in fear advertising. *Journal of Consumer Behavior*, 11, 147-161.
- Nabi, R. L. (1999). A cognitive-functional model for the effects of discrete negative emotions on information processing, attitude change, and recall. *Communication Theory*, 3, 292-320.
- Nabi, R. L. (2002). Discrete emotions and persuasion. In J. Dillard & M. Pfau (Eds.), *Handbook of persuasion* (pp. 289-308). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Nabi, R. L. (2003). The framing effects of emotion: Can discrete emotions influence information recall and policy preference? *Communication Research*, *30*, 224-247.
- Nabi, R. (2010). The case for emphasizing discrete emotions in communication research. *Communication Monographs*, 77(2), 153-159.
- Nabi, R. (2015). Emotional flow in persuasive health messages. *Health Communication*, *30*(2), 114-124.
- Nabi, R. L., & Myrick, J. G. (2018). Uplifting fear appeals: Considering the role of hope in fear-based persuasive messages. *Health Communication*, 9, 1-12.

- Nabi, R. L., Moyer-Guse', E., & Byrne, S. (2007). All joking aside: A serious investigation into the persuasive effect of funny social messages. *Communication Monographs*, 74, 29-54.
- Nabi, R. L., Gustafson, A., & Jensen, R. (2018). Framing climate change: Exploring the role of emotion in generating advocacy behavior. *Science Communication*, 40(4), 442-468.
- Najafpour, E., Asl-Aminabadi, N., Nuroloyuni, S., Jamli, Z., & Shirazi, S. (2017). Can galvanic skin conductance be used as an objective indicator of children's anxiety in the dental setting? *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Dentistry*, 9(3)., 377-383.
- Nan, X. (2013). Perceived source credibility and advertising persuasiveness: An investigation of moderators and psychological processes. *Journal of Current Issues & Research in Advertising*, 34(2), 195-211.
- Neumann, R. (2000). The causal influences of attributions on emotions: A procedural priming approach. *Psychological Science*, *11*, 179-182.
- Neumann, R., Seibt, B., & Strack, F. (2001). The influence of mood on the intensity of emotional responses: Disentangling feeling and knowing. *Cognition and Emotion*, 15, 725-747.
- Oceja, L., & Carrera, P. (2009). Beyond a single pattern of mixed emotional experience: Sequential, prevalence, inverse, and simultaneous. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 25*(1), 58-67.

- Ojala, M. (2012). Hope and climate change: The importance of hope for environmental engagement among young people. *Environmental Education Research, 18*, 625-642.
- O'Keefe, D. J. (2002). Guilt as a mechanism of persuasion. In J. P. Dillard & M. Pfu (Eds.), *The persuasion handbook: Developments in theory and practice* (pp. 329-344). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- O'Keefe, D. J. (2016). Persuasion and social influence. In J. P. Pooley & E. W. Rothenbuhler (Eds.), *The International Encyclopedia of Communication Theory and Philosophy* (1-19). John Wiley & Sons.
- Peterson, R. A., & Umesh, U. N. (2018). On the significance of statistically insignificant results in consumer behavior experiments. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 46,* 81-91.
- Pettit, P. (2004). Hope and its place in mind. *Annals of the American Academy of Political & Social Science, 592,* 152-165.
- Petty, R., & Cacioppo, J. (1986). The elaboration likelihood model of persuasion. In L.
  Berkowitz (Ed.), *Advances in experimental social psychology*, (Vol. 19 pp. 123-205). New York: Academic Press.
- Petty, R. E., Desteno, D., & Rucker, D. D. (2001). The role of affect in attitude change.In J. P. Forgas (Ed.), *Handbook of affect and social cognition* (pp. 212-233).Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Petty, R. E. & Wegener, D. T. (1998). Attitude change: Multiple roles for persuasion variables. In D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), *Handbook of social psychology* (4<sup>th</sup> ed., Vol. 1, pp. 323-390). Boston: McGraw-Hill.

- Petty, R. E., & Wegener, D. T. (1999). The elaboration likelihood model: Current status and controversies. In S. Chaiken & Y. Trope (Eds.), *Dual-process theories in social psychology* (pp. 41-72), New York: Guilford.
- Plutchik, R. (1980). *Emotion: A psychoevolutionary synthesis*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Prestin, A. (2013). The pursuit of hopefulness: Operationalizing hope in entertainment media narratives. *Media Psychology, 16,* 318-346.
- Rimal, R. N., & Real, K. (2003). Perceived risk and efficacy beliefs as motivators of change: Use of the risk perception attitude (RPA) framework to understand health behaviors. *Health Communication Research*, 29(3), 370-399.
- Roeser, S. (2012). Risk communication, public engagement, and climate change: A role for emotions. *Risk Analysis, 32*, 1033-1040
- Rogers, R. W. (1983). Cognitive and physiological processes in fear appeals and attitude change: A revised theory of protection motivation. In J. T. Cacioppo & R. E> Petty (Eds.), *Social psychophysiology* (pp. 153-176). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Roseman, I. J. (1984). Cognitive determinants of emotion: A structural theory. *Review of Personality and Social Psychology, 5,* 11-36.
- Roseman, I. J., Wiest, C., & Swartz, T. S. (1994). Phenomenology, behaviors, and goals differentiate discrete emotions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 67, 206-221.
- Roseman, I. J., & Evdokas, A. (2004). Appraisals cause experienced emotions: Experimental evidence. *Cognition & Emotion, 18,* 1-28.

- Rossiter, J. R., & Thornton, J. (2004). Fear-pattern analysis supports the fear-drive model for anti-speeding road-safety TV ads. *Psychology and Marketing*, 21(11), 945-960.
- Russell, J. A. (1989). Measures of emotion. In R. Plutchick & H. Kellerman (Eds.), *Emotion: Theory, research, and experience* (Vol. 4, pp. 83-111). Toronto: Academic.
- Russell, J. A., & Carroll, J. M. (1999). On the bipolarity of positive and negative affect. *Psychological Bulletin, 125*, 3-30.
- Sasser, S. L., & Koslow, S. (2019). Creativity and ad theory. In S. Rodgers & E. Thorson (Eds.) Advertising theory (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 201-227). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Scherer, K. R. (1984). On the nature and function of emotion: A component process approach. In K. R. Scherer & P. Ekman (Eds.), *Approaches to Emotion* (pp. 293-318). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Schwarz, N. (1990). Feelings as information: Informational and motivational functions of affective states. In E. T. Higgins & R. M. Sorrentino (Eds.), *Handbook of motivation and cognition: Foundations of social behavior* (Vol. 2, pp. 527-561).
   New York: Guilford Press.
- Schwarz, N., & Clore, G. L. (1983). Mood, misattribution and judgments of well-being: Informative and directive functions of affective states. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 45, 513-523.
- Schwarz, N., & Clore, G. L. (1996). Feeling and phenomenal experiences. In E. T. Higgins & A. W. Kruglanski (Eds.), *Social psychology: Handbook of basic principles* (pp. 433-465). New York: Guilford Press.

- Shen, L. (2011). The effectiveness of fear- vs. empathy-arousing anti-smoking PSAs. *Health Communication, 26,* 404-415.
- Sherman, D. A. K., Nelson, L. D., & Steele, C. M. (2000). Do messages about health risks threaten the self? Increasing the acceptance of threatening health messages via self-affirmation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin. 26*(9), 1046-1058.
- Smith, C. A., & Ellsworth, P. C. (1985). Patterns of cognitive appraisal in emotion. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 48, 813-838.
- Smith, L. W., & Rose, R. L. (2019). Service with a smiley face: Emojional contagion in digitally mediated relationships. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, (in press).
- Snyder, C. R. (1994). *The psychology of hope: You can get there from here*. New York Free Press.
- Snyder, C. R. (2000). Hypo: There is hope. In C. R. Snyder (Ed.), *Handbook of hope: Theory, measures, and applications* (pp. 3-21). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.

Stotland, E. (1969). The psychology of hope. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Strick, M., van Baaren, R. B., Holland, R. W., & van Knippenberg, A. (2009). Humor in advertisements enhances product liking by mere association. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Applied*, 15(1), 35-45.
- Sundar, S. S., & Kalyanaraman, S. (2004). Arousal, memory, and impression formation effects of animation speed in web advertising. *Journal of Advertising*, *33*(1), 7-17.

- Thorson, E., & Rodgers, S. (2019). Advertising theory in the digital age. In S. Rodgers &
  E. Thorson (Eds.) Advertising theory (2<sup>nd</sup> ed., pp. 3-17). New York, NY:
  Routledge.
- Tiedens, L. Z., & Linton, S. (2001). Judgment under emotional certainty and uncertainty: The effects of specific emotions on information processing. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 81, 973-988.
- Tomkins, S. S. (1963). *Affect, imagery, consciousness: Vol.11. The negative affects.* New York: Springer.
- Vuilleumier, P. (2005). How brains beware: Neural Mechanisms of emotional attention. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *9*(12), 585-594.
- Warren, C. & McGraw, A. P. (2016). Differentiating what is humorous from what is not. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 110(3), 407-430.
- Watson, D. & Tellegen, A. (1985). Toward a consensual structure of mood. *Psychological Bulletin, 98,* 219-235.
- Weems, S. (2014). *Ha! The science of when we laugh and why*. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Weinberger, M. G., & Gulas, C. S. (1992). The impact of humor in advertising: A review. *Journal of Advertising*, 21, 35-59.
- Weiner, B., Graham, S., & Chandler, C. (1982). Pity, anger, and guilt: An attributional analysis.

Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 8, 226-232.

Williams, P., & Aaker, J. L. (2002). Can mixed emotions peacefully coexist. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 28, 636-649.

Wilson, T. D. (2000). Human information behavior. Informing Sciences, 3(2), 49-55.

- Winterich, K. P., Han, S., & Lerner, J. S. (2010). Now that I'm sad, it's hard to be mad: The role of cognitive appraisals in emotional blunting. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 20(10), 1-17.
- Witte, K. (1992). Putting the fear back into fear appeals: The extended parallel process model. *Communication Monographs*, *59*, 329-349.
- Young, D. (2008). The privileged role of the late-night joke: Exploring humor's role in disrupting argument scrutiny. *Media Psychology*, *11*, 119-142.
- Zhang, L. (2015). Stereotypes of Chinese by American college students: Media use and perceived realism. *International Journal of Communication, 9*, 1-20.
- Zhao, X., Lynch, J. G., & Chen, Q. (2010). Reconsidering Baron and Kenny: Myths and truths about mediation analysis. *The Journal of Consumer Research*, 37(2), 197-206.
- Zillmann, D. (1983). Transfer of excitation in emotional behavior. In J. T. Cacioppo & R.
  E. Petty (Eds.), *Basic social psychophysiological research* (pp. 215-240). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Zillman, D. (1988). Mood management through communication choices. *American Behavioral Scientist, 31,* 327-340.
- Zoellner, L. A., & Foa, E. B. (2016). Applying research domain criteria (RDoC) to the study of fear and anxiety: a critical comment. *Psychophysiology*, *53*, 332-335.

## APPENDIX A

## STUDY QUESTIONNAIRE

Please pay close attention to the following instructions. The question will be based on these instructions.

AdSAM Scales

AdSAM is a simple but highly effective way for you to indicate how you feel in response to several questions throughout the survey. Below, you'll notice three different rows of graphic characters (Manikins), which represent you and your feelings.



The three rows of pictures represent types of feelings that range in nature from:

For each question where AdSAM is used, please:

Indicate your immediate emotional reaction.

Don't spend a lot of time thinking about it. Indicate how you feel by clicking ne circle on each row.

Either select a circle directly below a Manikin, or in between two Manikins. There will be no words, only Manikins

- 1. Using the following range of responses, please select the numbers to indicate how you feel about the video
  - a. Unappealing/appealing
  - b. Uninformative/informative
  - c. Unexciting/exciting
  - d. Boring/interesting
  - e. Unpleasant/pleasant
  - f. Dull/dynamic
  - g. Confusing/clear
  - h. Unattractive/attractive
  - i. Unfavorable/favorable
  - j. Unlikeable/likeable
  - k. Ordinary/sophisticated
  - 1. Unpersuasive/persuasive
  - m. Low quality/high quality
  - n. Bad/good

Please reflect your experiences while watching the video just now, and indicate your answers to teach of the following questions

- 2. How much attention did you pay while watching the video?
  - a. Never
  - b. Rarely
  - c. Sometimes
  - d. About half the time
  - e. Often
  - f. Very often
  - g. Always
- 3. How engaged were you while watching the video?
  - a. Never
  - b. Rarely
  - c. Sometimes
  - d. About half the time
  - e. Often
  - f. Very often
  - g. Always
- 4. How involved were you while watching the video?
  - a. Never
  - b. Rarely
  - c. Sometimes
  - d. About half the time
  - e. Often
  - f. Very often
  - g. Always

Please reflect on your experiences while watching the video just now, and indicate your answers to each of the following questions

- 5. How uch attention did you pay while watching the video?
  - a. Never
  - b. Rarely
  - c. Sometimes
  - d. About half the time
  - e. Often
  - f. Very often
  - g. Always
- 6. How engaged were you while watching the video?
  - a. Never
  - b. Rarely
  - c. Sometimes
  - d. About half the time
  - e. Often
  - f. Very often
  - g. Always
- 7. How involved were you while watching the video?
  - a. Never
  - b. Rarely
  - c. Sometimes
  - d. About half the time
  - e. Often
  - f. Very often
  - g. Always

Please reflect on your experiences while watching the video just now, and indicate your answers to each of the following questions.

- 8. I completely concentrated on the entire video while I was watching it.
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 9. When I was watching the entire video, time seemed to pass very quickly
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree

- 10. While I was watching the entire video, nothing else seemed to matter
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 11. While I was watching the entire video, I felt completely captivated
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree

Please reflect on your experiences while watching the video just now and evaluate the overall experience based on the following statements.

- 12. The video seemed moving
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 13. The video seemed emotional
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 14. The video seemed intense
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 15. The video seemed memorable
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree

- d. Neither agree nor disagree
- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 16. Use the following range of responses, please select the numbers to indicate how you feel about the video.
  - a. Not at all convincing/very convincing
  - b. Nat at all effective/very effective
  - c. Not informative/very informative
  - d. Not interesting/very interesting
  - e. Not at all impactful/very impactful
  - f. Not useful to me/very useful to me
- Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements:
- 17. After watching the video, I am worried about the risks of sun exposure
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 18. After watching the video, I will think about the health risks of sun exposure
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 19. After watching the video I feel afraid about developing melanoma
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 20. Using the following range of responses, please select the umbers to indicate how likely you think it is that sun exposure will cause you to develop melanoma
  - a. Unlikely/likely

After watching the video, please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements

- 21. When it comes to the topic of melanoma, I am likely to go out of my way to get more information
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree

- c. Somewhat disagree
- d. Neither agree nor disagree
- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 22. Whenn the topic of melanoma comes up, I will try to learn more about it
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
  - Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements
- 23. I plan to use sunscreen daily in the coming weeks
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 24. I plan to check my skin once a month
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 25. I plan to see a dermatologist in the near future
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 26. I plan to use clothes for sun protection regularly in the weeks ahead
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree

Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements

- 27. If I see this video on YouTube, I would 'like' it on YouTube
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 28. If I see this video on YouTube, I would share it with my friends
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 29. If I see this video on YouTube, I would comment on it on YouTube
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
  - Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements
- 30. I would be interested in signing a petition to raise awareness of melanoma in schools
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 31. I would like to receive an email with information on how to take further action in spreading melanoma awareness
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree

Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements

- 32. I am concerned that I have not taken enough precautions to protect myself from melanoma
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 33. Melanoma related to my personal interests
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 34. Melanoma is related to me
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 35. Melanoma is of concern to me
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 36. In my view, the video contains credible information about melanoma
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 37. In my view, the video about melanoma is trustworthy
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree

- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 38. The information contained in this video will help inform my decisions
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 39. I trust the information contained in this video to be correct
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 40. The information in the video was trying to educate me
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 41. I learned something from the information contained in the video
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 42. The information in the video was factually correct
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 43. The video portrayed the dangers of melanoma accurately
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree

- c. Somewhat disagree
- d. Neither agree nor disagree
- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 44. The video portrayed the dangers of melanoma realistically
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 45. The video portrayed the dangers of melanoma in a believable way
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 46. I am knowledgeable about the health risks of melanoma
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 47. I am knowledgeable about ways to prevent melanoma
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 48. I enjoyed this video
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 49. I appreciated this video

- a. Strongly disagree
- b. Disagree
- c. Somewhat disagree
- d. Neither agree nor disagree
- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 50. This video was very good
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 51. This video was very bad
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 52. I liked this video
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 53. I did not like this video
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
  - Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements
- 54. If I think something is unpleasant is going to happen I usually get pretty worked up
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree

- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 55. I worry about making mistakes
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 56. Criticism or scolding hurts me quite a bit
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 57. I feel pretty worried or upset when I think or know somebody is angry at me
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 58. Even if something bad is about to happen to me I rarely experience fear or nervousness
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 59. I feel worried when I think I have done poorly at something
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 60. I have very few fears compared to my friends
  - a. Strongly disagree

- b. Disagree
- c. Somewhat disagree
- d. Neither agree nor disagree
- e. Somewhat agree
- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 61. When I get something I want, I feel excited and energized
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 62. When I'm doing well at something I love to keep at it
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 63. When good things happen to me it affects me strongly
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 64. It would excite me to win a contest
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 65. When I see an opportunity for something I like, I get excited right away
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree

- 66. When I want something, I usually go all-out to get it
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 67. I go out of my way to get things I want
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 68. If I see a chance to get something I want, I move on it right away
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 69. When I go after something I use a "no holds barred" approach
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 70. I will often do things for no other reason than that they might be fun
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 71. I crave excitement and new sensations
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree

- f. Agree
- g. Strongly agree
- 72. I'm always willing to try something new if I think it will be fun
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 73. I often act on the spur of the moment
  - a. Strongly disagree
  - b. Disagree
  - c. Somewhat disagree
  - d. Neither agree nor disagree
  - e. Somewhat agree
  - f. Agree
  - g. Strongly agree
- 74. What is your age in years?
- 75. Please indicate your gender
  - a. Male
  - b. Female
  - c. Other
- 76. Are you of Hispanic origin?
  - a. Yes
  - b. No
- 77. What is your race?
  - a. White
  - b. Black or African American
  - c. American Indian or Alaska Native
  - d. Asian
  - e. Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander
  - f. Two or more races
  - g. Other.